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Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Selected Financial Data

($ in millions, except per share data) 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Earnings Statement Data
 � Gross written premium $� 897 $�1,019 $� 987 $� 989 $� 940
 � Net written premium 892 1,014 982 980 918
 � Net premium earned 922 1,032 949 962 872
 � Total revenues 931 1,098 1,021 1,053 952
 � Net earnings 19 72 87 106 96
  �  Realized losses (gains) on investments, after-tax 52 4 (1) (22) (9)

 � Operating earnings $� 71 $� 76 $� 86 $� 84 $� 87
 � Per Share—diluted
  �  Net earnings $� 1.23 $� 3.87 $� 4.26 $� 5.09 $� 4.62
  �  Operating earnings $� 4.53 $� 4.06 $� 4.19 $� 4.04 $� 4.18
 � Average basic common shares outstanding 15.5 18.4 20.3 20.6 20.6
 � Average diluted common shares outstanding 15.7 18.6 20.5 20.9 20.9
 � Cash dividend per common share $� 0.44 $� 0.36 $� 0.30 $� 0.24 $� 0.22
 � Combined ratio 92.5% 93.5% 90.8% 92.0% 91.9%

Balance Sheet Data
 � Total assets $�1,721 $�1,917 $�2,014 $�1,972 $�1,945
 � Debt outstanding 200 199 199 199 199
 � Shareholders’ equity $� 525 $� 601 $� 665 $� 627 $� 547
 � Book value per common share $�37.14 $�37.11 $�33.88 $�30.34 $�26.60
 � Return on average common shareholders’ equity 3.4% 11.4% 13.5% 18.1% 19.2%
 � Period-end common shares outstanding 14.1 16.2 19.6 20.6 20.6

Ratios
 � Debt to total capital 27.5% 24.9% 23.1% 24.1% 26.7%
 � Interest coverage 5.9 10.8 12.9 14.5 13.1
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Forward-Looking Statements
This report contains certain statements that may be deemed 
to be “forward-looking statements” that anticipate results 
based on our estimates, assumptions and plans that are 
subject to uncertainty. These statements are made subject 
to the safe-harbor provisions of the Private Securities 
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements in this report 
not dealing with historical results or current facts are forward-
looking and are based on estimates, assumptions, and pro-
jections. Statements which include the words “believes,” 
“seeks,” “expects,” “may,” “should,” “intends,” “likely,” “tar-
gets,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “estimates” or the negative 
version of those words and similar statements of a future or 
forward-looking nature identify forward-looking statements. 
Examples of such forward-looking statements include 

statements relating to expectations concerning market con-
ditions, premium, growth, earnings, investment performance, 
expected losses, rate changes and loss experience.

Actual results could differ materially from those expected by 
Infinity depending on: changes in economic conditions and 
financial markets (including interest rates), the adequacy or 
accuracy of Infinity’s pricing methodologies, actions of com-
petitors, the approval of requested form and rate changes, 
judicial and regulatory developments affecting the automo-
bile insurance industry, the outcome of pending or new liti-
gation against Infinity, weather conditions (including the 
severity and frequency of storms, hurricanes, snowfalls, hail 
and winter conditions), changes in driving patterns and loss 
trends. Infinity undertakes no obligation to publicly update 
or revise any of the forward-looking statements.

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Cumulative Total Return

The following graph shows the percentage change in 
cumulative total shareholder return on Infinity’s common 
stock over the five years ending December 31, 2008 mea-
sured by dividing the sum of (A) the cumulative amount of 
dividends, assuming dividend reinvestment during the peri-
ods presented and (B) the difference between Infinity’s 
share price at the end and the beginning of the periods 
presented by the share price at the beginning of the periods 

presented. The graph demonstrates cumulative total returns 
for Infinity, the Center for Research in Security Prices 
(“CRSP”) Total Return Index for NASDAQ U.S. Index, and 
the CRSP Total Return Index for the NASDAQ Insurance 
Stocks (SIC 6330-6339 U.S. Fire, Marine and Casualty 
Insurance Company) from December 31, 2003 through 
December 31, 2008.

Cumulative Total Return as of December 31, 2008
(Assumes a $100 investment at the close of trading on December 31, 2003)

12/31/03 12/31/04 12/31/05 12/31/06 12/31/07 12/31/08

IPCC 100.000 107.247 114.190 149.595 112.612 147.121
NASDAQ U.S. Index 100.000 108.835 111.155 122.109 132.420 63.803
NASDAQ Insurance Stocks 100.000 121.409 136.071 153.852 154.170 142.809

Cumulative Total Return as of December 31, 2008
(Assumes a $100 investment at the close of trading on December 31, 2003)

      
                                            12/31/03 12/31/04 12/31/05 12/31/06 12/31/07 12/31/08
IPCC                                            100.000 107.247 114.190 149.595 112.612 147.121
NASDAQ U.S. Index                100.000 108.835 111.155 122.109 132.420  63.803
NASDAQ Insurance Stocks 100.000 121.409 136.071 153.852 154.170 142.809
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Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial  
Condition and Results of Operations

Overview
In 2008, Infinity’s revenues were adversely affected by the 
economic recession. The continued decline in the markets 
for debt and equity investments resulted in $61.8 million in 
charges to Infinity for other-than-temporary impairments. 
Increasing unemployment in Infinity’s key Focus States 
dampened consumer demand for auto insurance leading to a 
decline in written premium of 11.8% in these states for the 
year. See Results of Operations—Underwriting—Premium for 
a more detailed discussion of Infinity’s underwriting results.

Net earnings and diluted earnings per share for the twelve 
months ended December 31, 2008 were $19.3 million and 
$1.23, respectively, compared with $71.9 million and $3.87, 
respectively, for the twelve months ended December 31, 
2007. The decline in diluted earnings per share is primarily 
due to $51.4 million of net realized losses during 2008 
compared to $3.1 million of net realized losses during 2007. 
Included in the net realized loss for 2008 is $61.8 million of 
other-than-temporary impairments on securities compared 
with $4.0 million of impairments during 2007.

Operating earnings, which exclude realized gains and losses 
on investments, were $71.1 million for the twelve months 
ended December 31, 2008, down 6.0% from $75.6 million 
in 2007. This decrease is primarily attributable to a decline 
in investment income.

Infinity continued to generate strong underwriting results in 
2008 with a GAAP combined ratio of 92.5% at December 31 
compared to 93.5% for the same period of 2007. 
Underwriting results benefited from $29.4 million of favor-
able development on prior accident period loss and LAE 
reserves compared with $13.5 million for the twelve months 
ended December 31, 2007. See Results of Operations—
Underwriting—Profitability for a more detailed discussion of 
Infinity’s underwriting results.

The market for personal auto insurance remained competi-
tive in 2008, but is beginning to show signs of firming. 
Declines in claim frequencies for the industry have slowed 
while average claim severities continue to increase. Even 
though Infinity expects this firming trend to continue, Infinity 
believes that the impact of the economic recession will 
continue to suppress demand for auto insurance in 2009.

Critical Accounting Policies
(See Note 1—Significant Reporting and Accounting Policies 
of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements)

The preparation of financial statements requires manage-
ment to make estimates and assumptions that can have a 
significant effect on amounts reported in the financial state-
ments. As more information becomes known, these esti-
mates and assumptions could change and thus impact 

amounts reported in the future. Management believes that 
the establishment of insurance reserves, the determination 
of “other-than-temporary” impairment on investments and 
accruals for litigation are the areas where the degree of judg-
ment required to determine amounts recorded in the finan-
cial statements make the accounting policies critical.

Insurance Reserves
Insurance reserves, or unpaid losses and LAE, are manage-
ment’s best estimate of (i) the ultimate amounts that will 
be paid for all claims that have been reported up to the 
date of the current accounting period but that have not 
yet been paid, (ii) an estimate of claims that have occurred 
but have not yet been reported to the Company (“incurred 
but not reported” or “IBNR”), and (iii) unpaid claim settle-
ment expenses.

IBNR reserves are established for the quarter and year-end 
based on a quarterly reserve analysis by the Company’s 
actuarial staff. Various standard actuarial tests are applied 
to subsets of the business at a state, product and coverage 
basis. Included in the analyses are the following:

 � Paid and incurred extrapolation methods utilizing paid and 
incurred loss development to predict ultimate losses;

 � Paid and incurred frequency and severity methods utiliz-
ing paid and incurred claims count development and paid 
and incurred development to predict ultimate average 
frequency (i.e., claims count per auto insured) or ultimate 
average severity (cost of claim per claim); and

 � Paid and incurred Bornhuetter-Ferguson methods adding 
expected development to actual paid or incurred experi-
ence to project ultimate losses.

For each subset of the business evaluated, each test gener-
ates a point estimate based on development factors applied 
to known paid and incurred claims and claim counts to 
estimate ultimate paid claims and claim counts. Selections 
of factors are based on historical loss development patterns 
with adjustment based on professional actuarial judgment 
where anticipated development patterns vary from those 
seen historically. This estimation of IBNR requires selection 
of hundreds of such factors. A single point estimate for the 
subset being evaluated is then selected from the results of 
various tests, based on a combination of simple averages of 
the point estimates of the various tests and selections based 
on professional actuarial judgment. During recent years, 
paid methods have been less reliable as a result of changes 
in settlement practices, so Infinity has more heavily relied 
on incurred methods.

While the ultimate liability may be greater or lower than 
recorded loss reserves, the development period for personal 
auto coverage is shorter than that associated with many other 



2008 ANNUAL REPORT
16

property and casualty coverages and can therefore be 
established with less uncertainty than coverages developing 
over longer periods, such as environmental coverage.

Estimating the liability for unpaid losses and LAE is inher-
ently judgmental and is influenced by factors that are sub-
ject to significant variation. Infinity estimates liabilities for the 
costs of losses and LAE for both reported and unreported 
(IBNR) claims based on historical trends in the following 
areas adjusted for deviations in such trends:

 � Claims settlement and payment practices;

 � Business mix;

 � Coverage limits and deductibles;

 � Inflation trends in auto repair and medical costs; and

 � Legal and regulatory trends affecting claims settlements.

Where deviations from historical trends in these key areas 
exist, when possible, quantitative and qualitative modifica-
tions to, or selections of, such factors are made to reflect 
such deviations. Management analyzes the adequacy of 
reserves using actuarial data and analytical reserve develop-
ment techniques, including projections of ultimate paid 
losses, to determine the ultimate amount of reserves. The 
list of “key underlying assumptions” provided above are non-
exhaustive examples of major factors taken into account in 
developing these estimates.

Infinity reviews loss reserve adequacy quarterly by accident 
year at a state and coverage level, while it reviews reserves 
quarterly for the Assumed Agency Business only at the 
coverage level. Reserves are adjusted as additional informa-
tion becomes known. Such adjustments are reflected in 
current year operations. Loss and LAE reserves are also 
certified to state regulators annually.

During each quarterly review by the internal actuarial staff, 
using the additional information obtained with the passage 
of time, factor selections are updated, which in turn adjust 
the ultimate loss estimates and held IBNR reserves for the 
subset of the business and accident periods affected by such 
updates. The actuarial staff also performs various tests to 
estimate ultimate average severity and frequency of claims. 
Severity represents the average cost per claim and frequency 
represents the number of claims per policy. As an overall 
review, the staff then evaluates for reasonableness loss and 
LAE ratios by accident year by state and by coverage.

Factors that can significantly affect actual frequency include, 
among others, changes in weather, driving patterns or trends 
and class of driver. Estimates of average frequency can be 
affected by changes in claims settlement and reserving 
practices. Loss severity can be affected by auto repair and 
medical cost inflation, jury awards and changes in policy 

limit profiles. Estimation of LAE reserves is subject to variation 
from factors such as the use of outside adjusters, frequency 
of lawsuits, claims staffing and experience levels.

Management believes that Infinity’s relatively low average 
policy limit and concentration on the nonstandard auto driver 
classification help stabilize fluctuations in frequency and 
severity. For example, approximately 93% of policies 
included within the nonstandard book of business include 
only the state-mandated minimum policy limits for bodily 
injury and property damage, which somewhat mitigates the 
challenge of estimating average severity. These low limits 
tend to reduce the exposure of the loss reserves on this 
coverage to medical cost inflation on severe injuries since 
the minimum policy limits will limit the total payout.

The Company’s management believes that the historical 
magnitude of adjustments to ultimate losses on an accident 
year basis are indicative of the sensitivity of currently held 
loss reserves to changes in underlying assumptions. Over 
the past eight accident years (the years for which data are 
readily available), excluding the effect of corporate litigation 
costs, the combined effects of adjustments to the initial 
estimate for average ultimate claims frequency and severity 
have ranged from (5.5)% to 4.3% (averaging (0.4)%).

Ultimate loss estimates, excluding corporate litigation losses, 
usually experience the greatest adjustment within the first 
twelve months after the accident year. Accordingly, the high-
est degree of uncertainty is associated with reserves for the 
current accident year because the current accident year 
contains the greatest proportion of losses that have not been 
reported or settled, and these elements must be estimated 
as of the current reporting date. The proportion of losses 
with these characteristics diminishes in subsequent years.

Applying the eight-year historical variances calculated above 
to the current 2008 accident year’s estimate of ultimate 
losses, excluding corporate litigation losses, would yield an 
indication of sensitivity to held reserves from $(30.0) million 
to $23.5 million, or about (5.5)% to 4.3% of held reserves, 
generating an impact to after-tax income of $19.5 million to 
$(15.3) million, respectively. The final outcome may fall 
below or above these amounts.

Corporate litigation losses represent estimates of losses 
incurred from actual or threatened litigation by claimants 
alleging improper handling of claims by the Company, which 
are commonly known as “bad faith” claims. Oftentimes, the 
onset of such litigation, subsequent discovery, settlement 
discussions, trial and appeal may occur several years after 
the date of the original claim. Because of the infrequent 
nature of such claims, each case is accrued based on its 
own merit based on Statement of Financial Accounting 

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial  
Condition and Results of Operations (continued)
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Standard (“SFAS”) No. 5 requirements that such accrual be 
probable and estimable. As such, no estimate is permissible 
under SFAS 5 for IBNR for threatened litigation yet to occur 
on accidents with dates prior to the balance sheet date. 
Consequently, the effect of setting accruals for such items 
likely will result in unfavorable reserve development in the 
reserve table below.

Calendar year losses incurred for corporate litigation 
losses, net of reinsurance, over the past seven calendar 
years have ranged from $8.2 million to $18.6 million, 
averaging $12.3 million per year. Gross of reinsurance, cor-
porate litigation losses have ranged from $8.2 million to 
$21.1 million, averaging $14.9 million over the past seven 
calendar years.

The following tables present the development of Infinity’s 
loss reserves, net of reinsurance, on a GAAP basis for the 
calendar years 1998 through 2008. The Infinity table 
includes the loss reserves of the NSA Group through 
December 31, 2002, the addition of the Assumed Agency 
Business on January 1, 2003, and those of Infinity com-
bined for 2003 and all subsequent years. The top line of 
each table shows the estimated liability for unpaid losses 

and LAE recorded at the balance sheet date for the indi-
cated years. The next line, captioned Liability for Unpaid 
Losses and LAE—as re-estimated at December 31, 2008, 
shows the re-estimated liability as of December 31, 2008. 
The remainder of the table presents intervening develop-
ment as percentages of the initially estimated liability. The 
development results from additional information and experi-
ence in subsequent years. The middle line shows a cumula-
tive deficiency (redundancy) which represents the aggregate 
percentage increase (decrease) in the liability initially esti-
mated. The lower portion of the table indicates the cumula-
tive amounts paid as of successive periods as a percentage 
of the original loss reserve liability.

These tables do not present accident or policy year develop-
ment data. Furthermore, in evaluating the re-estimated liabil-
ity and cumulative deficiency (redundancy), it should be 
noted that each percentage includes the effects of changes 
in amounts for prior periods. Conditions and trends that have 
affected development of the liability in the past may not 
necessarily exist in the future. Accordingly, it is not appropri-
ate to extrapolate future redundancies or deficiencies based 
on these tables.

INFINITY
(in millions) 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

Liability for unpaid loss & LAE:
 � As originally estimated* $589 $543 $630 $611 $719 $707 $669 $610 $568 $590 $524
 � As re-estimated at December 31, 2008   571   544   716   718   803   718   627   543   519   561 N/A
Liability re-estimated:
 � One year later 95.0% 95.3% 98.5% 101.5% 103.2% 99.2% 97.5% 94.9% 97.6% 95.0%
 � Two years later 93.6% 92.9% 102.1% 108.7% 107.1% 100.3% 94.2% 91.5% 91.3%
 � Three years later 91.0% 94.4% 106.4% 112.1% 108.5% 99.5% 93.7% 89.1%
 � Four years later 93.1% 96.0% 108.5% 112.8% 108.4% 100.2% 93.6%
 � Five years later 93.8% 97.3% 108.6% 112.9% 109.6% 101.5%
 � Six years later 94.4% 97.2% 109.1% 114.8% 111.6%
 � Seven years later 94.2% 97.9% 111.0% 117.6%
 � Eight years later 94.9% 100.0% 113.7%
 � Nine years later 96.9% 100.1%
 � Ten years later 97.0%
 � Cumulative deficiency (redundancy) (3.0)% 0.1% 13.7% 17.6% 11.6% 1.5% (6.4)% (10.9)% (8.7)% (5.0)% N/A

Cumulative deficiency (redundancy) excluding  
 � corporate litigation losses (6.4)% (4.3)% 6.2% 8.7% 3.6% (7.1)% (14.6)% (17.6)% (14.4)% (8.3)% N/A

Cumulative paid as of:
 � One year later 54.5% 53.0% 53.3% 51.3% 50.3% 48.4% 52.6% 50.3% 48.4% 54.6%
 � Two years later 73.2% 69.6% 76.2% 80.3% 77.1% 75.8% 72.6% 66.5% 69.1%
 � Three years later 80.6% 81.4% 92.0% 96.3% 94.3% 87.7% 80.1% 77.4%
 � Four years later 86.5% 89.4% 100.0% 105.7% 101.5% 91.6% 87.3%
 � Five years later 90.6% 93.1% 104.9% 109.2% 103.7% 97.4%
 � Six years later 92.1% 95.7% 106.5% 110.4% 108.8%
 � Seven years later 93.4% 96.4% 107.3% 115.8%
 � Eight years later 93.8% 96.8% 112.2%
 � Nine years later 94.1% 99.2%
 � Ten years later 96.3%

*2002 includes $126 resulting from the addition of the Assumed Agency Business.



2008 ANNUAL REPORT
18

The following is a reconciliation of Infinity’s net liability to the gross liability for unpaid losses and LAE (in millions):

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

As originally estimated
 � Net liability shown above* $�589 $�543 $�630 $�611 $�719 $�707 $�669 $�610 $�568 $�590 $524
 � Add reinsurance recoverables 11 10 13 37 33 32 27 16 28 28 21

  �  Gross liability $�600 $�553 $�643 $�648 $�752 $�739 $�696 $�626 $�596 $�618 $545

As re-estimated at December 31, 2008:
 � Net liability shown above $�571 $�544 $�716 $�718 $�803 $�718 $�627 $�543 $�519 $�561 N/A
 � Add reinsurance recoverables 33 44 52 80 75 56 47 36 30 27 N/A

  �  Gross liability $�604 $�588 $�768 $�798 $�878 $�774 $�674 $�580 $�549 $�588 N/A

Gross cumulative deficiency (redundancy) 0.8% 6.4% 19.4% 23.2% 16.7% 4.7% (3.3)% (7.3)% (7.8)% (4.9)% N/A

Gross cumulative deficiency (redundancy)  
 � excluding corporate litigation losses (3.9)% (0.1)% 9.4% 12.1% 6.6% (6.0)% (13.4)% (14.9)% (14.0)% (8.5)% N/A

*�2002 includes $126 resulting from the addition of the Assumed Agency Business.

The following table presents (in millions) the development of loss reserves for the Assumed Agency Business through 
December 31, 2002. Development for 2003 for the Assumed Agency Business is included in the Infinity table above. Under 
the reinsurance agreement entered into with GAI, Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries assumed the net reserves from GAI. 
Accordingly, gross reserves and net reserves are the same.

ASSUMED AGENCY BUSINESS
1998 1999 2000 2001 2002

Liability for unpaid losses & LAE:
 � As originally estimated $�150 $�118 $�106 $�116 $�126
 � As re-estimated at December 31, 2008 121 116 108 117 N/A
Liability re-estimated:
 � One year later 84.1% 102.9% 104.9% 106.8%
 � Two years later 86.2% 100.6% 106.8% 101.6%
 � Three years later 82.3% 101.1% 102.8% 103.4%
 � Four years later 81.7% 98.9% 104.5% 103.7%
 � Five years later 80.9% 100.7% 104.2% 101.5%
 � Six years later 81.7% 99.8% 102.7% 101.3%
 � Seven years later 81.2% 98.8% 102.8% 100.6%
 � Eight years later 81.0% 98.9% 102.1%
 � Nine years later 80.8% 98.4%
 � Ten years later 80.7%
 � Cumulative deficiency (redundancy) (19.3)% (1.6)% 2.1% 0.6%

Cumulative paid as of:
 � One year later 38.6% 47.5% 47.0% 43.6%
 � Two years later 57.9% 69.5% 70.8% 60.2%
 � Three years later 69.4% 83.3% 80.8% 79.7%
 � Four years later 75.3% 88.1% 91.6% 90.4%
 � Five years later 76.4% 93.2% 96.3% 94.6%
 � Six years later 78.3% 95.4% 98.6% 97.1%
 � Seven years later 79.6% 96.5% 100.0% 98.4%
 � Eight years later 80.0% 97.4% 100.9%
 � Nine years later 80.4% 97.8%
 � Ten years later 80.5%

During calendar year 2008, Infinity experienced $29.4 million 
of favorable reserve development, primarily from LAE reserves 
relating to liability coverages in the California, Florida and 
Pennsylvania nonstandard programs. In addition, there was 
favorable development on liability coverages of the Assumed 
Agency Business.

During calendar year 2007, Infinity experienced $13.5 million 
of favorable reserve development, primarily from favorable 
development on prior accident period loss reserves as well 
as a reduction in LAE estimates due to favorable expense 
payment patterns on bodily injury coverages in both 
California and Florida.

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial  
Condition and Results of Operations (continued)
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During calendar year 2006, Infinity experienced $31.2 million 
of favorable reserve development. This development came 
primarily from a reduction in ultimate estimates for average 
claim severities from accident years 2003–2005 in physical 
damage and bodily injury coverages. For those years, esti-
mates for ultimate claim frequencies increased slightly.

Other-than-Temporary Losses on Investments
Changes in the fair values of held investment securities are 
usually recorded as changes in unrealized gains or losses 
on investments, a component of shareholders’ equity. Net 
earnings are not affected until the disposition of a given 
security or, if an unrealized loss is deemed to be other-than-
temporary, an impairment charge is recorded as a realized 
capital loss and the cost basis of the security is reduced.

The determination of whether unrealized losses are “other-
than-temporary” requires judgment based on subjective as 
well as objective factors. Factors considered and resources 
used by management include:

 � the length of time the security’s market value has been 
below its cost;

 � the extent to which fair value is less than cost basis;

 � the ability and intent to hold the investment for a period 
of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in 
fair value;

 � whether the unrealized loss is credit-driven or a result of 
changes in market interest rates;

 � historical operating, balance sheet and cash flow data 
contained in issuer SEC filings;

 � issuer news releases;

 � near-term prospects for improvement in the issuer and/or 
its industry;

 � industry research and communications with industry spe-
cialists; and

 � third-party research and credit rating reports.

Management regularly evaluates for potential impairment 
each security position that either has a fair value of less than 
95% of its book value, an unrealized loss that equals or 
exceeds $100,000 or had one or more impairment charges 
recorded in the past. In addition, management reviews posi-
tions held related to an issuer of a previously impaired security. 
The process of evaluation includes assessments of each item 
listed above. Since it is not possible to accurately predict if 
or when a specific security will become other-than-temporarily 
impaired, total impairment charges could be material to the 
results of operations in a future period.

Accruals for Litigation
Infinity continually evaluates potential liabilities and reserves 
for litigation using the criteria established by SFAS 5, 

“Accounting for Contingencies.” Under this guidance, reserves 
for loss may only be recorded if the likelihood of occurrence 
is probable and the amount is reasonably estimable. 
Management considers each legal action and records 
reserves for losses in accordance with this guidance. Infinity 
believes the current assumptions and other considerations 
used to estimate potential liability for litigation are appropriate. 
Certain claims and legal actions have been brought against 
Infinity for which, under the rules described above, no loss has 
been accrued. While it is not possible to know with certainty 
the ultimate outcome of these claims or lawsuits, management 
does not expect them to have a material effect on Infinity’s 
financial condition or liquidity. See Note 14—Legal Proceedings 
of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a 
discussion of the Company’s material Legal Proceedings.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Ratios
The National Association of Insurance Commissioners’ 
(“NAIC”) model law for risk-based capital (“RBC”) provides 
formulas to determine the amount of capital that an insur-
ance company needs to ensure that it has an acceptable 
expectation of not becoming financially impaired. At 
December 31, 2008, the capital ratios of all Infinity insur-
ance subsidiaries exceed the RBC requirements.

Sources of Funds
Infinity is organized as a holding company with all of its 
operations being conducted by its insurance subsidiaries. 
Accordingly, Infinity will have continuing cash needs for 
administrative expenses, the payment of interest on borrow-
ings, shareholder dividends, share repurchases and taxes.

Administrative expenses at the holding company currently 
average $7.0 million annually since 2003.

At December 31, 2008, Infinity had $200 million principal of 
senior notes due 2014, bearing a fixed 5.5% interest rate (the 
“Senior Notes”) outstanding. Interest payments on the Senior 
Notes of $5.5 million are due each February and August 
through maturity in February 2014. (See Note 3—Long 
Term Debt of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
for more information on the Senior Notes.)

In February 2009, Infinity increased its quarterly dividend 
to $0.12 per share from $0.11 per share. At this current 
amount, Infinity’s 2009 annualized dividend payments will 
be approximately $6.8 million.

In October 2006, the Company announced that the Board 
of Directors approved a share repurchase program expiring 
on the earlier of December 31, 2008 or the completion of 
all purchases contemplated by the program, whereby the 
Company may repurchase up to an aggregate amount of 
$100 million of its outstanding common shares. Effective 
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July 24, 2008, Infinity’s Board of Directors approved an 
additional $74.3 million to be added to the remaining share 
repurchase authority, bringing the total share repurchase 
authority as of that date to $100.0 million, and extended the 
date to execute this program to December 31, 2009. During 
2007, excluding the accelerated share repurchase men-
tioned below, Infinity repurchased 1,032,479 shares at an 
average cost, excluding commissions, of $43.03. During 
2008, Infinity repurchased 2,087,900 shares at an average 
cost, excluding commissions, of $41.97. As of December 31, 
2008, Infinity had $41.4 million of authority remaining under 
this program.

On September 7, 2007, Infinity repurchased 2,554,932 
shares through an accelerated share repurchase (“ASR”). 
The shares were purchased from a dealer at $39.14 per 
share for an initial total cost of $100 million. The dealer 
purchased an equivalent number of shares from October 8, 
2007 through June 16, 2008. Upon completion of the 
repurchase efforts, Infinity was required to pay a price 
adjustment of $767,957 to the dealer, in either cash or 
shares of common stock, based on the volume weighted 
average price of Infinity’s common stock during the period 
of the ASR purchases. Infinity elected to pay this adjustment 
in cash.

Funds to meet expenditures at the holding company come 
primarily from dividends from the insurance subsidiaries as 
well as cash and investments held by the holding company. 

As of December 31, 2008, Infinity had $137.4 million of cash 
and investments. In 2008, Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries 
paid Infinity $70.0 million in dividends. In 2009, Infinity’s 
insurance subsidiaries may pay to Infinity up to $43.0 million 
in ordinary dividends without prior regulatory approval.

In August 2005, Infinity entered into an agreement for a 
$50 million three-year revolving credit facility (the “Credit 
Agreement”) that requires Infinity to meet certain financial 
and other covenants. Infinity renewed this agreement on 
August 31, 2008 on substantially similar terms. Infinity is 
currently in compliance with all covenants under the Credit 
Agreement. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, there were 
no borrowings outstanding under the Credit Agreement.

Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries generate liquidity to satisfy 
their obligations, primarily by collecting and investing pre-
mium in advance of paying claims. Infinity’s insurance sub-
sidiaries had positive cash flow from operations of 
approximately $27.0 million in 2008, $74.0 million in 2007 
and $28.5 million in 2006. In addition, to satisfy their obliga-
tions, Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries generate cash from 
maturing securities from their combined $943.2 million 
fixed maturity portfolio.

Management believes that cash and investment balances, 
cash flows from operations or borrowings, and maturities 
and sales of investments are adequate to meet the future 
liquidity needs for Infinity and its insurance subsidiaries.

Contractual Obligations
Infinity and its insurance subsidiaries’ contractual obligations as of December 31, 2008, are (in thousands):

Due in:
Long-Term 

Debt & Interest
Operating 

Leases
Loss and LAE 

Reserves(a)

Postretirement 
Benefit 

Payments(b) Total

2009 $� 11,000 $�20,323 $�297,147 $� 241 $�328,711
2010–2011 22,000 26,087 162,642 533 211,262
2012–2013 22,000 13,391 48,090 553 84,034
2014 and after 205,500 15,516 36,877 1,391 259,284

Total $�260,500 $�75,317 $�544,756 $�2,718 $�883,291

(a) � The payout pattern for reserves for losses and LAE is based upon historical payment patterns and do not represent actual contractual obligations. The timing 
and amounts ultimately paid can and will vary from these estimates, as discussed above under “Critical Accounting Policies” and in Note 1—Significant 
Reporting and Accounting Policies of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(b) � The payments for postretirement benefits do not represent actual contractual obligations. The payments presented represent the best estimate of 
future contributions.

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial  
Condition and Results of Operations (continued)
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Investments
General
Infinity’s Audit Committee has approved investment guidelines 
for the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. The 
guidelines specifically address overall investment objectives, 
permissible assets, prohibited assets, permitted exceptions 
to the guidelines and credit quality.

Infinity engages two unaffiliated money managers for its fixed 
income portfolio and a Vanguard exchange-traded fund 
designed to track the MSCI U.S. Broad Market Index for the 
equity portfolio. The investment managers conduct, in 
accordance with the Company’s investment guidelines, all of 
the investment purchases and sales for the Company and its 
subsidiaries. The Company’s Chief Financial Officer and the 
Audit Committee, at least quarterly, review the performance 
of the portfolio management and compliance with the 
Company’s investment guidelines. Physical custody of secu-
rities is maintained at national banks unaffiliated with the 
money managers.

Infinity’s consolidated investment portfolio at December 31, 
2008 contained $1.0 billion in fixed maturity securities and 
$31.2 million in equity securities, all carried at fair value with 
unrealized gains and losses reported as a separate compo-
nent of shareholders’ equity on an after-tax basis. At 
December 31, 2008, Infinity had pre-tax net unrealized 
gains of $8.1 million on fixed maturities and no unrealized 
gains or losses on equity securities. Combined, the pre-tax 
net unrealized gain decreased by $3.9 million for the twelve 
months ended December 31, 2008 from the same period 
of 2007.

Approximately 96% of the fixed maturities that Infinity held 
at December 31, 2008 were rated “investment grade” (credit 
rating of AAA to BBB) by nationally recognized rating agen-
cies. The average credit rating of Infinity’s fixed maturity 
portfolio was AA at December 31, 2008. Investment grade 
securities generally bear lower yields and lower degrees of 
risk than those that are unrated or non-investment grade.  

Management believes that a high quality investment portfolio 
is more likely to generate a stable and predictable invest-
ment return.

Since all of these securities are carried at fair value in the 
balance sheet, there is virtually no effect on liquidity or 
financial condition upon the sale and ultimate realization 
of unrealized gains and losses. The average duration 
of Infinity’s fixed maturity portfolio was 3.01 years at 
December 31, 2008.

Fair values of instruments are based on (i) quoted prices in 
active markets for identical assets (Level 1), (ii) quoted 
prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted 
prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are 
not active and model-derived valuations in which all signifi-
cant inputs are observable in active markets (Level 2) or 
(iii) valuations derived from valuation techniques in which 
one or more significant inputs are unobservable in the mar-
ketplace (Level 3).

Level 1 securities are U.S. Treasury securities and an 
exchange-traded fund that makes up Infinity’s equity port-
folio. Level 2 securities are comprised of securities whose 
fair value was determined using observable market inputs. 
Level 3 securities are comprised of (i) securities for which 
there is no active or inactive market for similar instruments, 
(ii) securities whose fair value is determined based on unob-
servable inputs and (iii) securities, other than securities 
backed by the U.S. Government, that are not rated by a 
Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organization.

The Company’s procedures for validating market prices 
obtained from third parties include, but are not limited to, 
periodic review of model pricing methodologies and periodic 
testing of sales activity to determine if there are any sig-
nificant differences between the market price used to value 
the security as of the balance sheet date and the sales price 
of the security for sales that occurred around the balance 
sheet date.
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Summarized information for Infinity’s investment portfolio at December 31, 2008 follows (in thousands):

Amortized Cost Fair Value
% of Total 
Fair Value

Fixed maturities:
 � U.S. government and agencies:
  �  U.S. government $� 159,031 $� 168,263 15.8%
  �  Government sponsored agencies 33,210 34,861 3.3%

    �    Total U.S. government and agencies 192,240 203,124 19.1%
State and municipal 217,951 220,598 20.7%
Mortgage-backed securities (“MBS”), collateralized mortgage obligations (“CMO”), asset-backed securities  
 � (“ABS”) and collateralized loan obligations (“CLO”):
  �  Residential mortgage-backed securities 129,664 134,932 12.7%
  �  Commercial mortgage-backed securities 37,754 35,488 3.3%
  �  Collateralized mortgage obligations:
   �   Planned amortization class 126,580 124,387 11.7%
   �   Sequentials 17,773 15,930 1.5%
   �   Whole loan 12,137 11,620 1.1%
   �   Scheduled 3,242 3,242 0.3%
   �   Accretion directed 1,671 1,671 0.2%
   �   Junior tranche 696 768 0.1%

    �    Total collateralized mortgage obligations 162,100 157,619 14.8%
 � Asset-backed securities secured by:
  �  Equipment leases 9,260 9,254 0.9%
  �  Home equity loans 7,083 7,060 0.7%
  �  Auto loans 4,305 4,059 0.4%
  �  Credit card receivables 1,838 1,770 0.2%

   �   Total asset-backed securities 22,486 22,144 2.1%
 � Collateralized loan obligations 440 434 0.0%

  �  Total MBS, CMO, ABS and CLO 352,444 350,618 33.0%
Corporates
 � Investment grade 218,713 216,824 20.4%
 � Non-investment grade 42,773 41,074 3.9%

    �    Total corporates 261,486 257,898 24.3%

Total fixed maturities 1,024,121 1,032,237 97.1%
Equity securities 31,157 31,157 2.9%

    �    Total investment portfolio $�1,055,278 $�1,063,394 100.0%

Investments in MBS and CMO represented 32% of Infinity’s 
fixed maturity portfolio at December 31, 2008. These secu-
rities are, in periods of rising interest rates, subject to signifi-
cant extension risk due to the fact that mortgages may be 
repaid more slowly than expected as borrowers postpone 
refinancing in anticipation of lower fixed rates in the future. In 
periods of falling interest rates, these securities are subject 

to significant prepayment risk due to the fact that mortgages 
may be repaid more quickly than expected as borrowers 
accelerate refinancing in anticipation of higher fixed rates in 
the future. As of December 31, 2008, all of Infinity’s MBS and 
CMO are rated “BBB” or better by a nationally recognized 
rating agency.

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial  
Condition and Results of Operations (continued)



Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation
23

The following table presents the credit rating and fair value of Infinity’s MBS and CMO portfolio at December 31, 2008, 
excluding Government Sponsored Enterprises (“GSE”), by deal origination year (in thousands):

Rating

Deal Origination Year AAA AA A BBB Non-Investment Grade Fair Value % of Total Exposure

1999 — 768 — — — 768 0.6%
2002 6,526 — — — — 6,526 5.0%
2003 18,136 1,742 — — — 19,878 15.3%
2004 30,040 — — — — 30,040 23.1%
2005 58,758 — — 2,116 — 60,874 46.9%
2006 9,398 638 — 1,708 — 11,744 9.0%

Total Fair Value 122,859 3,149 — 3,824 — 129,830 100.0%

% of Total Fair Value 94.6% 2.4% 0.0% 2.9% 0.0% 100.0%

The following table presents the credit rating and fair value of Infinity’s GSE portfolio at December 31, 2008 by deal origina-
tion year (in thousands):

Rating

Deal Origination Year AAA AA A BBB Non-Investment Grade Fair Value % of Total Exposure

2002 12,485 — — — — 12,485 6.3%
2003 23,239 — — — — 23,239 11.7%
2004 15,265 — — — — 15,265 7.7%
2005 12,287 — — — — 12,287 6.2%
2007 43 — — — — 43 0.0%
2008 134,889 — — — — 134,889 68.1%

Total Fair Value 198,208 — — — — 198,208 100.0%

% of Total Fair Value 100.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 100.0%

The following table presents the credit rating and fair value of Infinity’s ABS and CLO portfolio at December 31, 2008 by deal 
origination year (in thousands):

Rating

Deal Origination Year AAA AA A BBB Non-Investment Grade Fair Value % of Total Exposure

2001 75 — — — — 75 0.3%
2002 650 — — — — 650 2.9%
2003 1,207 — — — — 1,207 5.3%
2004 3,273 — — — — 3,273 14.5%
2005 434 — 863 2,506 — 3,803 16.8%
2006 — — 554 2,950 — 3,504 15.5%
2007 — — 8,605 1,249 — 9,853 43.6%
2008 — 212 — — — 212 0.9%

Total Fair Value 5,639 212 10,022 6,704 — 22,578 100.0%

% of Total Fair Value 25.0% 0.9% 44.4% 29.7% 0.0% 100.0%
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The following table presents the yields of Infinity’s invest-
ment portfolios based on quarterly investment balances as 
reflected in the financial statements.

Twelve Months Ended 
December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Yield on fixed income securities:
 � Excluding realized gains and losses 4.7% 5.0% 5.1%
 � Including realized gains and losses 2.1% 4.5% 5.0%
Yield on equity securities:
 � Excluding realized gains and losses 1.9% 2.4% 2.4%
 � Including realized gains and losses (38.8)% 9.0% 7.9%
Yield on all investments:
 � Excluding realized gains and losses 4.6% 4.9% 5.0%
 � Including realized gains and losses 0.6% 4.7% 5.1%

Fixed Maturity Investments
The table below sets forth the scheduled maturities of fixed 
maturity securities at December 31, 2008 based on their 
fair values (in thousands). Securities that do not have a 
single maturity date are reported at average maturity. Actual 
maturities may differ from contractual maturities because 
certain securities may be called or prepaid by the issuers.

Fair Value Amortized Cost

Maturity (in thousands)
Securities with 

Unrealized Gains
Securities with 

Unrealized Losses

Securities with 
No Unrealized 

Gains or Losses
All Fixed Maturity 

Securities
All Fixed Maturity 

Securities

One year or less $� 64,740 $� 14,245 $� 6,292 $� 85,277 $� 84,192
After one year through five years 276,292 105,644 15,794 397,730 391,189
After five years through ten years 89,936 37,250 15,748 142,934 141,366
After ten years 37,283 17,086 1,310 55,679 54,929
MBS, CMO, ABS and CLO 211,058 86,565 52,995 350,618 352,444

Total fixed maturities $�679,309 $�260,791 $�92,138 $�1,032,237 $�1,024,121

Exposure to Market Risk
Market risk represents the potential economic loss arising 
from adverse changes in the fair value of financial instru-
ments. Infinity’s exposures to market risk relate primarily to 
its investment portfolio, which is exposed primarily to inter-
est rate risk and credit risk and, to a lesser extent, equity 
price risk.

The fair value of Infinity’s fixed maturity portfolio is directly 
impacted by changes in market interest rates; generally, the 
fair value of fixed income investments moves inversely with 
movements in market interest rates. Infinity’s fixed maturity 
portfolio is comprised of substantially all fixed rate invest-
ments with primarily short-term and intermediate-term 
maturities. This portfolio composition allows flexibility in 
reacting to fluctuations of interest rates. In addition, the risk 
of loss in fair value is partially mitigated by higher market 
rates available for new funds available for investment. The 
portfolios of Infinity’s insurance companies are managed to 
achieve an adequate risk-adjusted return while maintaining 
sufficient liquidity to meet policyholder obligations.

Interest Rate Risk
The fair values of Infinity’s fixed maturity investments fluctu-
ate in response to changes in market interest rates. Increases 
and decreases in prevailing interest rates generally translate 
into decreases and increases, respectively, in fair values of 
those instruments. Additionally, fair values of interest rate 
sensitive instruments may be affected by the creditworthi-
ness of the issuer, prepayment options, relative values of 
alternative investments, the liquidity of the instrument and 
other general market conditions.

The following table summarizes the estimated effects of 
hypothetical increases and decreases in interest rates result-
ing from parallel shifts in market yield curves on Infinity’s 
fixed maturity portfolio and long-term debt. It is assumed 
that the effects are realized immediately upon the change in 
interest rates. The hypothetical changes in market interest 
rates do not reflect what could be deemed best or worst 
case scenarios. Variations in market interest rates could 
produce significant changes in the timing of repayments due 
to prepayment options available. For these reasons, actual 
results might differ from those reflected in the table.

(in thousands)

Sensitivity to Instantaneous Interest Rate Changes (basis points)

(200) (100) (50) 0 50 100 200

Fair value of fixed maturity portfolio $1,087,772 $1,061,656 $1,047,308 $1,032,237 $1,016,547 $1,000,341 $966,380
Fair value of long-term debt 195,382 187,010 182,984 179,063 175,240 171,515 164,346

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial  
Condition and Results of Operations (continued)
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The following table provides information about Infinity’s fixed 
maturity investments at December 31, 2008 which are 
sensitive to interest rate risk. The table shows expected 
principal cash flows by expected maturity date for each 
of the five subsequent years and collectively for all years 
thereafter. Callable bonds and notes are included based 
on call date or maturity date depending upon which date 
produces the most conservative yield. MBS, CMO, CLO, ABS 
and sinking fund issues are included based on maturity year 
adjusted for expected payment patterns.

(in thousands)
For the twelve 
months ended 
December 31,

MBS, CMO, CLO 
and ABS only

Excluding MBS, 
CMO, CLO and ABS Total

2009 $�145,892 $� 99,784 $� 245,676
2010 88,671 110,854 199,525
2011 67,623 104,201 171,823
2012 28,667 125,354 154,021
2013 9,763 83,492 93,255
Thereafter 35,217 152,992 188,208

Total 375,832 676,676 1,052,508

Fair Value 350,618 681,619 1,032,237

The cash flows presented take into consideration historical 
relationships of market yields and prepayment rates. 
However, given the current economic environment the actual 
prepayment rate may differ than historical trends resulting 
in actual principal cash flows that differ from those pre-
sented above.

Credit Risk
Credit risk is managed by diversifying the portfolio to avoid 
concentrations in any single industry group or issuer and by 
limiting investments in securities with lower credit ratings. 
The largest investment in any one fixed income security, 
excluding U.S. governments and agencies securities, is 
$10.1 million or 1.0% of the fixed income investment portfolio. 
The top five investments make up 4.2% of the fixed income 
portfolio. The fair value of non-performing fixed maturities, 
securities that have not produced investment income during 
the previous twelve months, was $0.3 million or 0.02% of 
the $1.1 billion portfolio as of December 31, 2008.

The following table shows Infinity’s fixed maturity securities, 
by NAIC designation and comparable Standard & Poor’s 
Corporation rating as of December 31, 2008 (in thousands):

NAIC Rating Comparable S&P Rating Amortized Cost Fair Value %

1 AAA, AA, A $� 927,808 $� 939,230 91.0%
2 BBB 53,540 51,934 5.0%

 � Total investment grade $� 981,348 $� 991,163 96.0%

3 BB $� 26,366 $� 25,032 2.4%
4 B 14,292 13,856 1.3%
5 CCC, CC, C 1,925 1,925 0.2%
6 D 191 261 0.0%

 � Total non-investment grade $� 42,773 $� 41,074 4.0%

 � Total $�1,024,121 $�1,032,237 100.0%

Since the second half of 2007, the mortgage industry has 
experienced a rise in mortgage delinquencies and foreclo-
sures, particularly among lower quality exposures (“sub-
prime” and “Alt-A”). As a result, many securities with 
underlying sub-prime and Alt-A mortgages as collateral 
experienced significant drops in market value. Infinity has 
only modest exposure to these types of investments. At 
December 31, 2008, Infinity’s fixed maturity portfolio 
included 13 securities, or 1.7% of the total market value of 
the fixed income portfolio, with exposure to sub-prime and 
Alt-A mortgages. Although these securities have sub-prime 
mortgages as underlying collateral, nine have AAA ratings. 
The remaining four securities have a combined market value 
of $7.1 million and are all rated BBB or above.

In early 2008, several municipal bond insurers had their 
credit ratings downgraded or placed under review by one or 
more Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organizations. 
These downgrades were a result of a perceived weakening 
of the insurers’ financial strength as a result of losses 
incurred on mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities. 
These securities experienced increased delinquencies and 
defaults as a result of a weakening economy and housing 
market in particular.

Infinity’s investment portfolio consists of $220.6 million of 
municipal bonds, of which $148.7 million are insured. Of the 
insured bonds, 34% are insured with FSA, 26% with MBIA, 
22% with AMBAC, 17% with FGIC, and 1% with Assured  
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Guaranty. The following table presents the underlying ratings, represented by the lower of Standard and Poor’s, Moody’s or 
Fitch’s ratings, of the insured municipal bond portfolio (in thousands):

Insured Uninsured Total 

Rating
Fair 

Value
% of  

Fair Value
Fair  

Value
% of  

Fair Value
Fair 

Value
% of  

Fair Value

AAA $� 16,217 10.9% $�35,799 49.8% $� 52,015 23.6%
AA+, AA, AA– 55,940 37.6% 26,607 37.0% 82,547 37.4%
A+, A, A– 69,602 46.8% 7,491 10.4% 77,093 34.9%
BBB+, BBB, BBB– 5,128 3.4% 2,000 2.8% 7,128 3.2%
NR 1,815 1.2% — — 1,815 0.8%

Total $�148,702 100.0% $�71,896 100.0% $�220,598 100.0%

Equity Price Risk
Equity price risk is the potential economic loss from adverse 
changes in equity security prices. Infinity’s exposure to 
equity price risk is limited as its equity investments comprise 
only 2.9% of its total investment portfolio. At December 31, 
2008, Infinity’s equity portfolio was $31.2 million.

Goodwill
In accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other 
Intangible Assets,” Infinity performs impairment test proce-
dures for goodwill on an annual basis. These procedures 

require Infinity to calculate the fair value of goodwill, com-
pare the result to its carrying value and record the amount 
of any shortfall as an impairment charge. Infinity performed 
this test as of September 30, 2008 using a variety of meth-
ods, including estimates of future discounted cash flows and 
comparisons of the market value of Infinity to its major com-
petitors as well as the overall market. The September 30, 
2008 test results indicated that there was no impairment 
charge required at that date. Additionally, there was no indi-
cation of impairment at December 31, 2008.

Results of Operations
Underwriting
Premium
Infinity’s net earned premium is as follows ($ in thousands):

Twelve months ended December 31,

2008 2007 $ Change % Change

Net Earned Premium
 � Gross written premium
  �  Personal Auto Insurance:
   �   Focus States
    �    Urban Zones $�686,069 $� 759,152 $� (73,083) (9.6)%
    �    Non-Urban Zones 109,638 142,969 (33,331) (23.3)%

   �   Total Focus States 795,707 902,121 (106,414) (11.8)%
   �   Maintenance States 33,976 50,243 (16,267) (32.4)%
   �   Other States 2,368 7,419 (5,051) (68.1)%

    �    Subtotal 832,051 959,783 (127,732) (13.3)%
  �  Commercial Vehicle 42,795 37,537 5,258 14.0%
  �  Classic Collector 21,253 20,089 1,164 5.8%
  �  Other 803 1,602 (799) (49.9)%

Total gross written premium(1) 896,902 1,019,011 (122,109) (12.0)%
Ceded reinsurance and effects of unearned premium transfers (4,812) (4,749) (63) 1.3%

Net written premium 892,090 1,014,262 (122,172) (12.0)%
Change in unearned premium 30,361 17,302 13,059 75.5%

Net Earned Premium $�922,451 $�1,031,564 $�(109,113) (10.6)%

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial  
Condition and Results of Operations (continued)
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Twelve months ended December 31,

2007 2006 $ Change % Change

Net Earned Premium
 � Gross written premium
  �  Personal Auto Insurance:
   �   Focus States
    �    Urban Zones $� 759,152 $�671,679 $� 87,473 13.0%
    �    Non-Urban Zones 142,969 167,360 (24,391) (14.6)%

   �   Total Focus States 902,121 839,039 63,082 7.5%
   �   Maintenance States 50,243 62,051 (11,808) (19.0)%
   �   Other States 7,419 17,476 (10,057) (57.5)%

    �    Subtotal 959,783 918,566 41,217 4.5%
  �  Commercial Vehicle 37,537 43,160 (5,623) (13.0)%
  �  Classic Collector 20,089 18,402 1,687 9.2%
  �  Other 1,602 6,613 (5,011) (75.8)%

Total gross written premium(1) 1,019,011 986,741 32,270 3.3%
Ceded reinsurance and effects of unearned premium transfers (4,749) (4,551) (198) 4.4%

Net written premium 1,014,262 982,190 32,072 3.3%
Change in unearned premium 17,302 (33,525) 50,827 (151.6)%

Net Earned Premium $�1,031,564 $�948,665 $� 82,899 8.7%

(1) � 2008, 2007 and 2006 exclude less than $(0.1) million, $0.1 million and $5.0 million, respectively, of premium written on behalf of other companies. 
2006 also excludes $0.7 million of unearned premium transfers.

The following table shows Infinity’s policies-in-force:
As of December 31,

2008 2007 Change %

Policies-in-Force
 � Personal Auto Insurance:
  �  Focus States
   �   Urban Zones 585,262 600,620 (15,358) (2.6)%
   �   Non-Urban Zones 78,758 98,009 (19,251) (19.6)%

  �  Total Focus States 664,020 698,629 (34,609) (5.0)%
  �  Maintenance States 26,355 35,928 (9,573) (26.6)%
  �  Other States 1,307 3,071 (1,764) (57.4)%

   �   Subtotal 691,682 737,628 (45,946) (6.2)%
 � Commercial Vehicle 19,605 14,149 5,456 38.6%
 � Classic Collector 61,416 59,941 1,475 2.5%
 � Other 295 881 (586) (66.5)%

 � Total 772,998 812,599 (39,601) (4.9)%

As of December 31,

2007 2006 Change %

Policies-in-Force
 � Personal Auto Insurance:
  �  Focus States
   �   Urban Zones 600,620 532,259 68,361 12.8%
   �   Non-Urban Zones 98,009 122,944 (24,935) (20.3)%

  �  Total Focus States 698,629 655,203 43,426 6.6%
  �  Maintenance States 35,928 48,136 (12,208) (25.4)%
  �  Other States 3,071 9,978 (6,907) (69.2)%

   �   Subtotal 737,628 713,317 24,311 3.4%
 � Commercial Vehicle 14,149 14,636 (487) (3.3)%
 � Classic Collector 59,941 58,439 1,502 2.6%
 � Other 881 3,885 (3,004) (77.3)%

 � Total 812,599 790,277 22,322 2.8%
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2008 compared to 2007
Gross written premium decreased 12.0% during the twelve 
months ended December 31, 2008 compared with the 
twelve months ended December 31, 2007. During 2008, 
Infinity implemented 52 rate revisions in various states with 
an overall rate impact of a 2.4% decrease. This overall rate 
decrease is primarily a result of the 10.4% rate decrease 
implemented January 1, 2008 in Infinity’s largest program 
in California in response to the amended rate approval regu-
lations in that state. Excluding California, overall rates 
increased 7.3%. Policies-in-force at December 31, 2008 
decreased 4.9% compared with December 31, 2007. Gross 
written premium declined more than policies-in-force due to 
a shift in the business mix to more liability only policies, 
which have lower average premium.

During 2008, personal auto insurance gross written premium 
in Infinity’s nine Focus States decreased 11.8% compared 
with 2007. This decline in gross written premium is primarily 
a result of declines in California, Connecticut, Florida and 
Georgia. In California, gross written premium declined 13.5% 
during the twelve months ended December 31, 2008 as 
compared with the same period of 2007. Infinity believes 
that, in addition to the rate decrease on Infinity’s largest 
program in California, gross written premium declined, in 
part, because the compulsory automobile insurance laws in 
California have not been actively enforced. Infinity believes 
that individuals are allowing their automobile insurance policies 
to lapse due to this lack of enforcement. Gross written pre-
mium may also be affected by the impact of the economic 
slowdown on the buying behavior of individuals with regard 
to automobile insurance. In an effort to improve profitability, 
Infinity increased rates 16.2% during 2007 and another 
5.1% during 2008 in Connecticut contributing to a 46.9% 
decline in gross written premium during the twelve months 
ended December 31, 2008 as compared with the same 
period of 2007. Gross written premium in Florida declined 
16.6% during 2008 as compared with 2007. Although gross 
written premium in Miami, Infinity’s new urban zone, 
increased during the twelve months ended December 31, 
2008 as compared with the same period of 2007, the 
remaining Florida urban zones declined. The decline in 
gross written premium is due primarily to Infinity raising 
rates 13.5% during 2007, and another 15.1% in 2008 to 
improve profitability in Florida. A decline in Georgia’s gross 
written premium of 22.1% during the year ended 2008 
compared with the same period of 2007 is primarily a result 
of a reduction in the amount of business written in non-
urban zones in the state.

Partially offsetting the decline in premium in California, 
Connecticut, Florida and Georgia during 2008 were 
increases in gross written premium in Nevada and Texas. 

Nevada’s gross written premium increased 36.2% during 
2008 primarily as a result of continued marketing efforts in 
addition to Infinity’s rate stability while competitors increased 
their rates. Gross written premium in Texas increased 20.6% 
during the twelve months ended December 31, 2008 as 
compared with the same period of 2007, including growth 
in Dallas, Fort Worth, Houston and San Antonio—all four of 
Infinity’s Texas urban zones. New agent appointments and 
advertising have contributed to gross written premium 
growth in Texas.

Gross written premium in the Maintenance States declined 
32.4% during 2008 with declines in all Maintenance States 
other than Tennessee. Infinity has increased rates in several 
of the Maintenance States over the last twelve months in an 
effort to improve profitability.

Infinity’s Commercial Vehicle gross written premium 
increased 14.0% during the twelve months ended December 
31, 2008 as compared with the same period of 2007. During 
2007, Infinity revised its rating structure and reintroduced 
the program in states such as California, Connecticut, 
Georgia and Texas. In addition, increased marketing and 
advertising led to the growth in gross written premium.

Gross written premium for the Classic Collector book of 
business grew 5.8% during the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2008 as compared with the same period of 
2007 as gross written premium grew in eight of Infinity’s 
nine Focus States.

2007 compared to 2006
Gross written premium for the year ended December 31, 
2007 increased 3.3% compared to the twelve months ended 
2006. During the first six months of 2007, gross written 
premium grew 14.6% primarily from growth in California as 
Infinity continued to benefit from new policies issued as a 
result of the California Department of Motor Vehicles imple-
mentation of electronic enforcement of compulsory insur-
ance laws that were effective October 1, 2006. However, 
during the last six months of 2007 premium declined 7.8% 
as the implementation of electronic enforcement in California 
was completed September 30, 2007 and as a result of 
slowing new business application counts in states such as 
Arizona, Connecticut and Florida. During 2007, Infinity 
implemented 52 rate revisions in various states with an 
overall rate increase of 3.3%. Infinity’s policies-in-force at 
December 31, 2007 increased 2.8% compared to 
December 31, 2006.

Personal auto insurance in Infinity’s nine Focus States 
increased 7.5% for the year ended December 31, 2007 
compared with 2006, primarily from growth in Arizona, 
California, Nevada and Texas. The 9.3% gross premium 
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growth in California was primarily attributable to the 21.2% 
growth during the first six months of 2007 compared with 
the same period in 2006, during which time Infinity continued 
to benefit from new policies issued as a result of electronic 
enforcement of compulsory insurance laws. However, as 
expected, premium growth slowed during the third quarter 
of 2007 to 8.3% and declined 11.5% in the fourth quarter of 
2007 as the implementation of electronic enforcement was 
completed on September 30, 2007. In addition, slowing new 
application counts, due in part to rate decreases taken by 
competitors, contributed to the decline in California during 
the fourth quarter of 2007.

Personal auto gross written premium growth in Arizona of 
26.6% during the twelve months ended December 31, 2007 
as compared with the same period in 2006 was primarily 
attributable to continued penetration in the Phoenix Urban 
Zone. However, gross written premium in the fourth quarter 
of 2007 in Arizona was down compared to the fourth quarter 
of 2006. Infinity believes this decline in gross written pre-
mium in the fourth quarter to be in part due to stricter 
immigration laws being enforced in Arizona.

Gross written premium in Texas grew in each of the four 
quarters of 2007 as compared to 2006. Gross written pre-
mium for the twelve months ended December 31, 2007 
grew 30.1% compared to the same period in 2006. The 
growth can be attributed primarily to further penetration 
in the targeted Urban Zones of Dallas, Houston and 
San Antonio. Infinity’s gross written premium in Nevada 
continued to grow throughout 2007 following the introduc-
tion of the Low Cost and Value-Added products in Las Vegas 
in March 2006.

Offsetting gross written premium growth in Arizona, 
California, Nevada and Texas were declines in gross written 
premium in Connecticut and Florida. Infinity raised rates 
16.2% in Connecticut and 13.5% in Florida during the 
twelve months ending December 31, 2007, which slowed 
new business production. Gross written premium in Florida 
was also negatively impacted by the sunset of the mandatory 
personal injury protection (“PIP”) coverage on October 1, 
2007. Although the Florida legislature eventually reinstated 
PIP as a mandatory coverage, the new requirement did not 
go into effect until January 1, 2008 and Infinity believes as 
a result, fewer consumers were purchasing PIP coverage in 
the fourth quarter of 2007.

Personal auto gross written premium in Infinity’s 22 targeted 
Urban Zones grew 13.0% during 2007 compared with 
2006, with 15 of the 22 Urban Zones posting gross written 
premium growth. Gross written premium in the Non-Urban 
Zones declined 14.6% during 2007 as compared with 2006. 
This decline is primarily a result of a decline in Florida and 

Georgia’s Non-Urban Zones as a result of rate increases and 
redirecting market efforts to the targeted Urban Zones in 
those states.

Personal auto premium in Infinity’s Maintenance states 
declined 19.0% during the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2007 compared with the same period in 
2006 primarily as a result of declines in Alabama, Mississippi 
and South Carolina. To improve profitability, Infinity increased 
rates in South Carolina by 5.2% during the fourth quarter of 
2006 and raised rates in 2007 by 7.6% and 4.2% in 
Alabama and Mississippi, respectively, which slowed new 
business production.

Gross written premium for the Commercial Vehicle program 
declined 13.0% during the twelve months ended December 
31, 2007 compared with 2006. Premium growth in California 
and Georgia was more than offset by a decline in premium 
in Florida and New York. To improve profitability, Infinity 
increased rates in Florida by 9.3% during the fourth quarter 
of 2006 and another 1.7% during July 2007.

Classic Collector gross written premium increased 9.2% 
during the twelve months ended December 31, 2007, com-
pared with the same period in 2006, primarily as a result of 
premium growth in California, Florida and Texas.

Ceded reinsurance and the effects of unearned premium 
transfers grew by 4.4% during the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2007 compared with the same period in 
2006. The increase is a result of a one-time unearned pre-
mium transfer of $0.7 million in 2006. Excluding this 
unearned premium transfer, ceded reinsurance premium 
declined 9.6%. Infinity maintains an excess loss reinsurance 
treaty for higher limits personal auto liability coverages. 
Premium ceded under this treaty declined during 2007 as 
Infinity sold the renewal rights on the Connecticut book of 
business assumed from Great American Insurance Company, 
which consisted predominately of higher policy limits for 
standard and preferred business.

Profitability
A key operating performance measure of insurance compa-
nies is underwriting profitability, as opposed to overall profit-
ability or net earnings. Underwriting profitability is measured 
by the combined ratio. When the combined ratio is under 
100%, underwriting results are generally considered profit-
able; when the ratio is over 100%, underwriting results are 
generally considered unprofitable. The combined ratio does 
not reflect investment income, other income, other expenses 
or federal income taxes.

While financial data is reported in accordance with GAAP for 
shareholder and other investment purposes, data is reported 
on a statutory basis for insurance regulatory purposes. 
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Infinity evaluates underwriting profitability based on a com-
bined ratio calculated using statutory accounting principles. 
The statutory combined ratio represents the sum of the fol-
lowing ratios: (i) losses and LAE incurred as a percentage 
of net earned premium and (ii) underwriting expenses 
incurred as a percentage of net written premium. Certain 
expenses are treated differently under statutory and GAAP 
accounting principles. Under GAAP, commissions, premium 
taxes and other variable costs incurred in connection with 
writing new and renewal business are capitalized as deferred 

policy acquisition costs and amortized on a pro rata basis 
over the period in which the related premium are earned; 
on a statutory basis these items are expensed as incurred. 
Costs for computer software developed or obtained for internal 
use are capitalized under GAAP and amortized over their 
useful life, rather than expensed as incurred, as required for 
statutory purposes. Additionally, bad debt charge-offs on 
agent balances and premium receivables are included only 
in the GAAP combined ratios.

Twelve months ended December 31,

2008 2007 Change

 
Loss & 

LAE Ratio
Underwriting 

Ratio
Combined 

Ratio
Loss & 

LAE Ratio
Underwriting 

Ratio
Combined 

Ratio
Loss & 

LAE Ratio
Underwriting 

Ratio
Combined 

Ratio

Personal Auto Insurance:
 � Focus States:
  �  Urban Zones 71.9% 19.8% 91.8% 72.7% 19.6% 92.3% (0.8)% 0.3% (0.6)%
  �  Non-Urban Zones 75.4% 21.3% 96.7% 82.5% 22.7% 105.3% (7.1)% (1.5)% (8.6)%

 � Total Focus States 72.4% 20.0% 92.4% 74.4% 20.1% 94.5% (2.0)% — (2.1)%
 � Maintenance States 61.8% 23.4% 85.1% 63.5% 24.7% 88.2% (1.8)% (1.3)% (3.1)%
 � Other States 28.4% 36.8% 65.3% (7.0)% 31.4% 24.5% 35.4% 5.4% 40.8%

   �   Subtotal 71.8% 20.2% 92.0% 72.9% 20.4% 93.3% (1.1)% (0.2)% (1.3)%
Commercial Vehicle 82.2% 21.6% 103.8% 38.2% 24.0% 62.2% 44.0% (2.4)% 41.6%
Classic Collector 43.4% 41.7% 85.1% 38.4% 49.1% 87.5% 4.9% (7.3)% (2.4)%
Other NM NM NM NM NM NM NM NM NM

Total statutory ratios 70.3% 20.9% 91.2% 70.6% 21.2% 91.8% (0.2)% (0.3)% (0.6)%
GAAP ratios 70.3% 22.2% 92.5% 70.5% 23.0% 93.5% (0.2)% (0.8)% (1.0)%

Twelve months ended December 31,

2007 2006 Change

Loss & 
LAE Ratio

Underwriting 
Ratio

Combined 
Ratio

Loss & 
LAE Ratio

Underwriting 
Ratio

Combined 
Ratio

Loss & 
LAE Ratio

Underwriting 
Ratio

Combined 
Ratio

Personal Auto Insurance:
 � Focus States:
  �  Urban Zones 72.7% 19.6% 92.3% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
  �  Non-Urban Zones 82.5% 22.7% 105.3% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

 � Total Focus States 74.4% 20.1% 94.5% 66.5% 21.1% 87.6% 7.9% (1.0)% 6.9%
 � Maintenance States 63.5% 24.7% 88.2% 79.4% 23.7% 103.1% (15.9)% 0.9% (14.9)%
 � Other States (7.0)% 31.4% 24.5% 11.1% 25.8% 36.8% (18.1)% 5.7% (12.4)%

   �   Subtotal 72.9% 20.4% 93.3% 66.1% 21.3% 87.4% 6.8% (0.9)% 5.9%
Commercial Vehicle 38.2% 24.0% 62.2% 89.0% 18.9% 107.9% (50.8)% 5.2% (45.6)%
Classic Collector 38.4% 49.1% 87.5% 40.7% 45.7% 86.4% (2.3)% 3.4% 1.1%
Other NM NM NM NM NM NM NM NM NM

Total statutory ratios 70.6% 21.2% 91.8% 67.0% 21.7% 88.7% 3.6% (0.5)% 3.1%
GAAP ratios 70.5% 23.0% 93.5% 67.0% 23.8% 90.8% 3.5% (0.8)% 2.7%
NM: not meaningful due to the low premium for these lines.
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2008 compared to 2007
Overall, the statutory combined ratio for the year ended 
December 31, 2008 of 91.2% improved slightly from the 
91.8% for 2007. For the twelve months ended December 31, 
2008, Infinity had $29.4 million of favorable development on 
prior accident period loss and LAE reserves compared with 
$13.5 million of favorable development for the year ended 
December 31, 2007. Excluding the favorable development 
from both years, the combined ratio increased 1.3 points 
from 93.1% in 2007 to 94.4% in 2008. Catastrophe related 
losses were $1.8 million and $0.7 million during 2008 and 
2007, respectively.

The combined ratio improvement in the Focus States for the 
year ended December 31, 2008 as compared with 2007 is 
primarily a result of favorable development on LAE reserves 
in many of Infinity’s Focus States. Excluding favorable devel-
opment, the combined ratio in the Focus States increased 
in 2008 compared with 2007 primarily as a result of an 
increase in the loss and LAE ratio in California, Infinity’s 
largest state in terms of premium and underwriting profits. 
During 2008, Infinity took a 10.4% rate reduction as required 
by the new fair rate of return regulations which reduced aver-
age earned premiums and increased the combined ratio. 
The 2008 combined ratio, excluding favorable development, 
did improve compared with 2007 in states such as Arizona, 
Florida, Pennsylvania and Texas primarily as a result of rate 
increases taken in the states to improve profitability. However, 
combined ratios in several of the Focus States remain above 
acceptable levels, so Infinity will continue to increase rates 
along with taking other underwriting actions in order to con-
tinue to improve the underwriting results.

The loss and LAE ratio in the Maintenance States declined 
for the year ended December 31, 2008 as compared with 
2007 primarily as a result of favorable development on LAE 
reserves in Alabama and Missouri.

The loss and LAE ratio for the Commercial Vehicle business 
increased substantially during 2008 compared with 2007 as 
a result of an extra-contractual claim in Florida. Excluding 
this claim, the combined ratio for 2008 would be 79.8% 
compared with 62.2% in 2007. The increase in the com-
bined ratio excluding the extra-contractual claim is a result 
of favorable development on prior accident period loss and 
LAE reserves recognized in 2007.

The Classic Collector loss and LAE ratio increased for the 
year ended December 31, 2008 primarily due to $0.7 million 
of losses from Hurricane Ike. Excluding losses from 
Hurricane Ike, the loss and LAE ratio for 2008 would 
be 40.0% compared with 38.4% for 2007. The expense 
ratio has improved for Classic Collector as a result of  

completing the transition of moving the business to a new 
computer platform.

2007 compared to 2006
Overall, the statutory combined ratio for the year ended 
December 31, 2007 increased 3.1 points compared with 
2006. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2007, 
Infinity had $13.5 million of favorable development on prior 
accident period loss and LAE reserves compared with 
$31.2 million of favorable development for the year ended 
December 31, 2006. Excluding the favorable development 
from both years, the combined ratio increased 1.1 points. 
Catastrophe related losses were $0.7 million and $0.8 million 
during 2007 and 2006, respectively.

The combined ratio in the Focus States increased 6.9 points 
in 2007 compared with that in 2006. The loss and LAE ratio 
increased 7.9 points primarily as a result of increasing fre-
quency trends in California, Florida and Pennsylvania as well 
as increasing severity trends in Florida. In addition, the 
settlement of an extra-contractual claim in Florida contrib-
uted 1.0 point to the increase in the loss and LAE ratio. The 
growth in gross written premiums over which to spread fixed 
costs has contributed to the 1.0 point decline in the under-
writing expense ratio, in addition to a greater amount of fee 
income, which reduces underwriting expenses.

In the Maintenance States, the 2007 combined ratio 
improved 14.9 points compared with 2006. The 15.9 point 
improvement in the loss and LAE ratio is primarily a result 
of improving loss and LAE ratios in Alabama and 
South Carolina where Infinity has increased rates over the 
last two years to improve profitability. Included in the 2006 
expense ratio is a one-time benefit of $1.9 million related to 
a refund from the South Carolina Reinsurance faculty. 
Excluding this amount, the 2006 underwriting ratio in the 
maintenance states would be 26.8% compared to the 24.7% 
expense ratio for 2007. This decline in the underwriting 
expense ratio is primarily attributable to an increase in fee 
income in 2007 as compared with 2006.

The combined ratio in the Other States for 2007 improved 
12.4 points compared with 2006 primarily due to favorable 
development on prior year LAE reserves in Alaska and 
New York.

The 2007 combined ratio for the Commercial Vehicle busi-
ness declined 45.6 points compared with 2006 with a loss 
and LAE ratio decline of 50.8 points offset by a 5.2 point 
increase in the underwriting expense ratio. During 2006, in 
the state of Florida, Infinity incurred losses on a few extra-
contractual claims and incurred two large losses. In 2007, 
Infinity had favorable development on extra-contractual  
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claims in Florida. Combined, these items resulted in a 
9.0 point reduction in the loss and LAE ratio. In addition, the 
loss and LAE ratio declined as a result of favorable develop-
ment on prior accident year loss and LAE reserves experi-
enced during 2007 compared with unfavorable development 
during 2006. The increase in the underwriting expense ratio 
is primarily due to a decline in premium written over which 
to spread fixed costs.

Investment Income
Investment income primarily includes gross investment rev-
enue and investment management fees as shown in the 
following table (in thousands):

Twelve months ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Investment income:
 � Interest income on fixed maturities,  

 � cash and cash equivalents $�58,909 $�68,359 $�69,383
 � Dividends on equity securities 871 1,190 1,518

   �   Gross investment income $�59,780 $�69,549 $�70,901
Investment expenses (1,830) (2,162) (2,488)

Net investment income $�57,950 $�67,387 $�68,413

2008 compared to 2007
Changes in investment income reflect fluctuations in market 
rates and changes in average invested assets. Net invest-
ment income declined $9.4 million for the twelve months 
ended December 31, 2008 as compared with the same 
period in 2007. Infinity’s gross investment income declined 
due to both a decrease in quarterly average invested assets 
of 7.8% in 2008 compared to 2007 and a decline in yields for 
high quality securities. Investment expenses declined primar-
ily as a result of the lower average invested asset balance.

2007 compared to 2006
Changes in investment income reflect fluctuations in market 
rates and changes in average invested assets. Net invest-
ment income declined $1.0 million for the twelve months 
ended December 31, 2007 as compared with the same 
period in 2006. Gross investment income for the twelve 
months ended December 31, 2006 included a one-time 
benefit of $0.7 million related to the catch up of amortization 
of bond discount on securities sold that had previously been 
impaired. In addition, Infinity’s gross investment income 
declined as average invested assets decreased 1.5% in 
2007 compared to 2006. Investment expenses declined as 
a result of the lower average invested asset balance and as 
a result of lower investment management fees.

Realized Gains (Losses) on Investments
Infinity recorded realized gains (losses) on sales and dispos-
als and impairments for unrealized losses deemed other-
than-temporary as follows (before tax, in thousands):

Twelve months ended December 31, 2008

Net Realized Gains 
(Losses) on Sales

Impairments 
on Securities

Total Realized 
Gains (Losses)

Fixed  
 � maturities $�10,441 $�(43,229) $�(32,788)
Equities — (18,590) (18,590)

  �  Total $�10,441 $�(61,818) $�(51,378)

Twelve months ended December 31, 2007

Net Realized Gains 
(Losses) on Sales

Impairments 
on Securities

Total Realized 
Gains (Losses)

Fixed  
 � maturities $�(2,332) $� (4,028) $� (6,360)
Equities 3,273 — 3,273

  �  Total $� 941 $� (4,028) $� (3,087)

Twelve months ended December 31, 2006

Net Realized Gains 
(Losses) on Sales

Impairments 
on Securities

Total Realized 
Gains (Losses)

Fixed  
 � maturities $� (94) $� (1,445) $� (1,539)
Equities 8,533 (5,032) 3,501

  �  Total $� 8,439 $� (6,477) $� 1,962

2008 compared to 2007
The total realized loss in 2008 was primarily a result of 
impairments of fixed maturities issued by companies in the 
financial services industry and the impairment of Infinity’s 
investment in an exchange-traded fund.

2007 compared to 2006
The total realized loss in 2007 was primarily a result of 
impairments of fixed maturities issued by companies in the 
financial services industry. In addition, Infinity realized losses 
on the sales of fixed maturities as Infinity’s new money 
managers repositioned the portfolio to invest more heavily 
in municipal bonds and reduce the amount invested in 
corporate bonds.
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Other Income
Twelve months ended 

December 31,

(in thousands) 2008 2007 2006

Finance charges on assumed business $� 6 $� 16 $� 722
Sale of homeowners’ book — — 182
Gain on sale of Connecticut personal  
 � auto book 574 1,070 332
Other 1,315 1,276 1,067

Total Other Income $�1,895 $�2,362 $�2,303

2008 compared to 2007
Other income for the twelve months ended December 31, 
2008 decreased $0.5 million when compared to 2007. This 
decline is primarily attributable to a $0.5 million decline in 
fees received on renewal premium from the 2005 sale of the 
Assumed Agency Business’s Connecticut personal auto 
book. The other items included in other income of $1.3 million 
in 2008 are non-recurring items.

2007 compared to 2006
Other income for the twelve months ended December 31, 
2007 was relatively flat compared to 2006. A $0.7 million 
decline in finance charges on assumed business that is in 
runoff was offset by a $1.1 million fee received on renewal 
premium from the 2005 sale of the Assumed Agency 
Business’s Connecticut personal auto book. The other items 
included in other income of $1.3 million in 2007 are non-
recurring items.

Interest Expense
Twelve months ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2008 2007 2006

Senior Notes $�11,071 $�11,067 $�11,064

The Senior Notes carry a coupon rate of 5.50%, effective 
yield of 5.55%, and require no principal payment until matu-
rity in February 2014. (See Note 3—Long-Term Debt of the 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional 
information on the Senior Notes.)

Corporate General and Administrative Expenses

Twelve months ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2008 2007 2006

Corporate General and  
 � Administrative Expenses $� 6,958 $� 7,843 $� 7,091

2008 compared to 2007
Corporate general and administrative expenses decreased 
11.3% in 2008 compared to 2007 primarily as a result of a 
decrease in share-based compensation expense as stock 
options issued in 2003 were fully expensed during 2007, a 
decrease in contract service fees paid and a decrease in 
Directors and Officers insurance expense. (See Note 6— 
Share-Based Compensation of the Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements for additional information on Infinity’s 
Stock Option Plan.)

2007 compared to 2006
Corporate general and administrative expenses increased 
10.6% in 2007 compared to 2006 primarily as a result of 
both an increase in fees paid to the Board of Directors 
and share-based compensation expense related to the 
July 31, 2007 issuance of restricted stock. (See Note 6—  
Share-Based Compensation of the Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements for additional information on the 
restricted stock issuance.)

Restructuring Charges
In October 2006, Infinity announced plans to consolidate 
certain of its customer service, centralized claims and infor-
mation technology back-office operations. The objective of 
the restructuring is to improve service levels and to more 
consistently and cost effectively manage the operations.

Twelve months ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2008 2007 2006

Restructuring Charges $788 $1,693 $4,782

During the fourth quarter of 2006, Infinity recorded a 
$4.8 million, pre-tax, charge related to severance costs. The 
$1.7 million charge during 2007 is primarily related to losses 
on subleases from facilities affected by the restructuring. 
Infinity incurred an additional $0.8 million in expenses 
during 2008, $0.4 million of which related to losses 
on subleases.

Other Expenses
Twelve months ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2008 2007 2006

Corporate litigation expense  
 � (class action lawsuits) $� 590 $� 636 $�3,816
Loss on sublease 497 — 203
Lease buyout — 1,975 —
Other 3,482 1,544 1,722

Total Other Expenses $�4,570 $�4,155 $�5,741
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2008 compared to 2007
Other expenses increased $0.4 million for the twelve-month 
period ended December 31, 2008 as compared to 2007. 
The increase is primarily due to a loss on vacated office 
space as well as operating expenses relating to Infinity’s 
retail store initiative. Beginning in 2006, Infinity launched 
this program to assess the viability of retail outlets that sell 
auto insurance coverage and offer other financial services.

2007 compared to 2006
Other expenses decreased $1.6 million for the twelve-month 
period ended December 31, 2007 as compared to 2006. 
The decrease is primarily a result of a reduction in corporate 
litigation expenses in 2007 as compared to 2006 offset by 
a $2.0 million charge for the cost to buyout of a 10-year 
lease in Bellflower, CA.

Income Taxes
The following table reconciles the Company’s U.S. statutory 
rate and effective tax rate for the periods ending 
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006.

Twelve months ended  
December 31,

2008 2007 2006

U.S. statutory tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Adjustments
 � Dividends received deduction (0.3)% (0.2)% (0.2)%
 � Tax exempt interest (5.2)% (2.4)% (1.6)%
 � Adjustment to valuation allowance 34.1% 1.5% (0.1)%
 � Other 0.8% (0.1)% 0.5%

Effective tax rate 64.4% 33.8% 33.6%

Infinity has recorded a valuation allowance equal to 100% of 
the available capital loss carryforward. As capital gains are 
generated, Infinity takes credit for the deferred tax asset and 
reduces the valuation allowance. In addition, Infinity includes 
the tax on losses recorded on other-than-temporarily 
impaired securities in the valuation allowance.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over  
Financial Reporting

Infinity’s management is responsible for establishing and 
maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, 
as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) 
and 15d-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participa-
tion of management, including the principal executive officer 
and principal financial officer, Infinity conducted an evalua-
tion of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2008 based on the framework 
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 

Commission. Based on the Company’s evaluation under the 
framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework, man-
agement concluded that Infinity’s internal control over finan-
cial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2008.

Because of its inherent limitations, a system of internal 
control over financial reporting can provide only reasonable 
assurance and may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Further, because of changes in conditions, effectiveness 
of internal controls over financial reporting may vary over 
time. Infinity’s system contains self-monitoring mechanisms, 
and actions are taken to correct deficiencies as they 
are identified.

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial  
Condition and Results of Operations (continued)
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Board of Directors Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation

We have audited Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation 
and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as 
of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (the COSO criteria). Infinity Property and 
Casualty Corporation and subsidiaries’ management is 
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over 
financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effective-
ness of internal control over financial reporting included in 
the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal 
Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the company’s internal control over 
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards 
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was 
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included 
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial 
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, 
testing and evaluating the design and operating effective-
ness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and 
performing such other procedures as we considered neces-
sary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides 
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a 
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s 
internal control over financial reporting includes those poli-
cies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of 
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect  

the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the com-
pany; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are 
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted account-
ing principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the 
company are being made only in accordance with authoriza-
tions of management and directors of the company; and 
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or 
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposi-
tion of the company’s assets that could have a material 
effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over 
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future 
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the 
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate.

In our opinion, Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation 
and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 
2008, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), 
the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2008 
and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of earn-
ings, changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for 
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 
2008, of Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and 
subsidiaries and our report dated February 27, 2009 
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Birmingham, Alabama
February 27, 2009

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control  
over Financial Reporting
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Board of Directors Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets of Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and 
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and 
the related consolidated statements of earnings, changes 
in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the 
three years in the period ended December 31, 2008. These 
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards 
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material mis-
statement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide 
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above 
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated finan-
cial position of Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation 
and subsidiaries at December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the 
consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows 
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 
2008, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards 
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States), Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation 
and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as 
of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission, and our report dated February 27, 2009 
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Birmingham, Alabama
February 27, 2009

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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Twelve months ended December 31, 

2008 2007 % Change 2006 % Change

Revenues:
Earned premium $�922,451 $�1,031,564 (10.6)% $� 948,665 8.7%
Net investment income 57,950 67,387 (14.0)% 68,413 (1.5)%
Net realized (losses) gains on investments (51,378) (3,087) 1564.3% 1,962 (257.3)%
Other income 1,895 2,362 (19.8)% 2,303 2.6%

Total revenues 930,918 1,098,226 (15.2)% 1,021,343 7.5%

Costs and expenses:
Losses and LAE 648,410 727,284 (10.8)% 635,135 14.5%
Commissions and other underwriting expenses 205,046 237,481 (13.7)% 226,110 5.0%
Interest expense 11,071 11,067 — 11,064 —
Corporate general and administrative expenses 6,958 7,843 (11.3)% 7,091 10.6%
Restructuring charges 788 1,693 (53.5)% 4,782 (64.6)%
Other expenses 4,570 4,155 10.0% 5,741 (27.6)%

Total costs and expenses 876,843 989,523 (11.4)% 889,923 11.2%

Earnings before income taxes 54,075 108,703 (50.3)% 131,420 (17.3)%
Provision for income taxes 34,818 36,759 (5.3)% 44,138 (16.7)%

Net earnings $� 19,257 $� 71,944 (73.2)% $� 87,282 (17.6)%

Earnings per common share:
Basic $� 1.25 $� 3.91 (68.0)% $� 4.30 (9.1)%
Diluted 1.23 3.87 (68.2)% 4.26 (9.2)%
Average number of common shares:
Basic 15,452 18,390 (16.0)% 20,303 (9.4)%
Diluted 15,680 18,605 (15.7)% 20,475 (9.1)%
Cash dividends per common share $� 0.44 $� 0.36 22.2% $� 0.30 20.0%
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Earnings
(In thousands, except per share data)
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December 31,

2008 2007

Assets
Investments:
 � Fixed maturities—at fair value (amortized cost $1,024,121 and $1,215,371) $�1,032,237 $�1,226,804
 � Equity securities—at fair value (cost $31,157 and $49,056) 31,157 49,677

  �  Total investments $�1,063,394 $�1,276,481
Cash and cash equivalents 109,274 46,831
Accrued investment income 11,028 13,417
Agents’ balances and premium receivable, net of allowances for  
 � doubtful accounts of $11,652 and $15,447 298,437 333,985
Prepaid reinsurance premium 1,372 1,823
Recoverables from reinsurers (includes $2,898 and $1,280 on paid losses and LAE) 23,413 29,499
Deferred policy acquisition costs 70,101 75,774
Current and deferred income taxes 20,920 31,849
Prepaid expenses, deferred charges and other assets 48,121 31,676
Goodwill 75,275 75,275

  �  Total assets $�1,721,335 $�1,916,610

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Liabilities:
 � Unpaid losses and LAE $� 544,756 $� 618,409
 � Unearned premium 380,425 411,237
 � Payable to reinsurers 666 228
 � Long-term debt (fair value $179,063 and $191,734) 199,567 199,496
 � Commissions payable 22,568 26,872
 � Payable for securities purchased 293 —
 � Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities 47,728 59,144

  �  Total liabilities $�1,196,004 $�1,315,386

Commitments and contingencies (See Note 15)
Shareholders’ equity:
 � Common stock, no par value 50,000,000 shares authorized 21,041,444  

 � and 21,007,044 shares issued $� 20,999 $� 20,942
 � Additional paid-in capital 341,889 340,195
 � Retained earnings 439,051 426,638
 � Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax 5,987 8,353
 � Treasury stock, at cost (6,895,262 and 4,807,362 shares) (282,594) (194,904)

  �  Total shareholders’ equity $� 525,331 $� 601,224

  �  Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $�1,721,335 $�1,916,610

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except number of shares authorized and outstanding in line description)
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Common 
Stock

Additional 
Paid-in 
Capital

Retained 
Earnings

Unearned 
Compensation 

(Restricted 
Stock)

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income  

(net of tax)
Treasury 

Stock Total

Balance at January 1, 2006 $�20,728 $�331,511 $�279,171 $�(30) $�(3,648) $� (1,138) $�626,594

Net earnings $� — $� — $� 87,282 $� — $� — $� — $� 87,282
Change in unrealized gain (loss)—investments — — — — 147 — 147

Comprehensive income $� 87,429
Adjustment to initially apply SFAS 158 — — — — 295 — 295
Dividends paid to common shareholders — — (6,099) — — — (6,099)
Employee stock purchases, including tax benefit 7 239 — — — — 246
Exercise of stock options, including tax benefit 99 2,466 — — — — 2,565
Share-based compensation expense—options — 1,012 — — — — 1,012
Stock granted to directors 3 122 — — — — 125
Acquisition of treasury stock — — — — — (49,282) (49,282)
Amortization of unearned compensation, including tax benefit — 358 — 30 — — 388
Other — — 1,328 — — — 1,328

Balance at December 31, 2006 $�20,837 $�335,708 $�361,682 $� — $�(3,206) $� (50,420) $�664,601

Net earnings $� — $� — $� 71,944 $� — $� — $� — $� 71,944
Change in unrealized gain (loss)—investments — — — — 11,336 — 11,336
Net change in postretirement benefit liability — — — — 223 — 223

Comprehensive income $� 83,503
Dividends paid to common shareholders — — (6,707) — — — (6,707)
Employee stock purchases, including tax benefit 6 224 — — — — 230
Exercise of stock options, including tax benefit 86 2,532 — — — — 2,618
Share-based compensation expense—options — 1,113 — — — — 1,113
Share-based compensation expense—restricted stock 7 324 — — — — 331
Stock granted to directors 6 294 — — — — 300
Acquisition of treasury stock — — — — — (144,484) (144,484)
Other — — (281) — — — (281)

Balance at December 31, 2007 $�20,942 $�340,195 $�426,638 $� — $� 8,353 $�(194,904) $�601,224

Net earnings $� — $� — $� 19,257 $� — $� — $� — $� 19,257
Change in unrealized gain (loss)—investments — — — — (2,558) — (2,558)
Net change in postretirement benefit liability — — — — 193 — 193

Comprehensive income $� 16,892
Dividends paid to common shareholders — — (6,811) — — — (6,811)
Employee stock purchases, including tax benefit 7 249 — — — — 256
Exercise of stock options, including tax benefit 20 533 — — — — 553
Share-based compensation expense—options — 456 — — — — 456
Share-based compensation expense—restricted stock 18 777 — — — — 795
Share-based compensation expense—performance  
 � share plan 4 154 — — — — 159
Stock granted to directors 7 293 — — — — 300
Acquisition of treasury stock — — — — — (87,690) (87,690)
Accelerated share repurchase plan settlement payment — (768) — — — — (768)
Other — — (34) — — — (34)

Balance at December 31, 2008 $�20,999 $�341,889 $�439,051 $� — $� 5,987 $�(282,594) $�525,331

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
(In thousands)
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Twelve months ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Operating activities:
 � Net earnings $� 19,257 $� 71,944 $� 87,282
 � Adjustments:
  �  Depreciation and amortization 12,047 9,459 6,298
  �  Net realized losses (gains) on investing activities 51,378 3,087 (1,962)
  �  Financial Accounting Standards No. 158 Transition Adjustment — — 295
  �  Loss on disposal of fixed assets 480 — —
  �  Share-based compensation expense 1,710 1,744 1,139
  �  Decrease in accrued investment income 2,389 2,731 631
  �  Decrease (increase) in agents’ balances and premium receivable 35,548 9,080 (51,820)
  �  Decrease (increase) in reinsurance receivables 6,537 4,701 (7,651)
  �  Decrease (increase) in deferred policy acquisition costs 5,673 1,062 (6,456)
  �  Decrease (increase) in other assets 4,185 (4,905) (4,533)
  �  (Decrease) increase in insurance claims and reserves (104,465) 2,644 (1,066)
  �  Increase (decrease) in payable to reinsurers 438 (414) (2,677)
  �  (Decrease) increase in other liabilities (13,622) (29,432) 3,046
  �  Other, net (34) (281) 359

   �   Net cash provided by operating activities $� 21,521 $� 71,420 $� 22,885
Investing activities:
 � Purchases of and additional investments in:
  �  Fixed maturities $�(687,572) $�(692,353) $�(135,115)
  �  Equity securities (691) (93,703) (39,633)
  �  Property and equipment (18,441) (21,043) (3,537)
 � Maturities and redemptions of fixed maturity investments 62,850 92,511 125,365
 � Sales:
  �  Fixed maturities 778,919 629,432 75,140
  �  Equity securities — 100,120 51,313
  �  Property and equipment 24 — 8

   �   Net cash provided by investing activities $�135,089 $� 14,964 $� 73,541
Financing activities:
 � Proceeds from stock option exercise and employee stock purchase plan,  

 � including tax benefit 809 2,848 2,811
 � Accelerated share repurchase plan settlement payment (768) — —
 � Acquisition of treasury stock (87,397) (144,881) (48,885)
 � Dividends paid to shareholders (6,811) (6,707) (6,099)

   �   Net cash used by financing activities $� (94,167) $�(148,740) $� (52,173)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $� 62,443 $� (62,356) $� 44,253
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 46,831 109,187 64,934

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $�109,274 $� 46,831 $�109,187

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)
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Index to Notes
1. Significant Reporting and Accounting Policies
2. Investments
3. Long-Term Debt
4. Income Taxes
5. Computations of Earnings Per Share
6. Share-Based Compensation
7. Benefit Plans
8. Restructuring
9. Accelerated Share Repurchase Program

10. Quarterly Operating Results (unaudited)
11. Insurance Reserves
12. Reinsurance
13. Statutory Information
14. Legal Proceedings
15. Commitments and Contingencies
16. Additional Information

Note 1 Significant Reporting and Accounting Policies
Nature of Operations
Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation (“Infinity” or the 
“Company”) was formed in September 2002 as an indirect 
wholly-owned subsidiary of American Financial Group, Inc. 
(“AFG”) to acquire and conduct, as a separate public com-
pany, AFG’s personal insurance business written through 
independent agents. At December 31, 2002, AFG trans-
ferred to Infinity all of the issued and outstanding capital 
stock of the following personal auto insurance subsidiaries: 
Infinity Casualty Insurance Company, Infinity Insurance 
Company, Infinity Auto Insurance Company and Infinity 
Standard Insurance Company (collectively the “NSA Group”). 
Although Infinity was formed in 2002, the NSA Group has 
been writing auto insurance since 1955. Infinity currently 
writes nonstandard personal auto insurance, monoline com-
mercial vehicle insurance and classic collector automobile 
insurance. Nonstandard personal auto insurance accounts 
for 93% of Infinity’s total gross written premium and is 
primarily written in nine states. Approximately 55% of the 
nonstandard personal auto gross written premium was 
written in the state of California during 2008.

Through a reinsurance transaction effective January 1, 
2003, Infinity assumed the personal lines business (the 
“Assumed Agency Business”) written through agents by AFG’s 
principal property and casualty subsidiary, Great American 
Insurance Company (“GAI”). GAI, in turn, transferred to 
Infinity assets (primarily investment securities) with a fair 
value of $125.4 million. This reinsurance arrangement per-
mits Infinity to continue writing standard and preferred insur-
ance on policies issued by the same GAI companies which 
had previously issued such policies until Infinity can take 
such action to allow its insurance subsidiaries to write these 
policies or non-renew the business. Premium for the twelve 

months ended December 31, 2008 and policies-in-force at 
December 31, 2008 for business assumed from GAI were 
$0.8 million and 295, respectively. The Company assumed 
$30.1 million of total unpaid losses and LAE for GAI at 
December 31, 2008.

Basis of Consolidation and Reporting
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include 
the accounts of Infinity and its subsidiaries as of and for 
the twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2008, 
December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006. These financial 
statements reflect certain adjustments necessary for a fair 
presentation of Infinity’s results of operations and financial 
position. Such adjustments consist of normal, recurring 
accruals recorded to accurately match expenses with their 
related revenue streams and the elimination of all significant 
inter-company transactions and balances. Schedules may 
not foot due to rounding.

Estimates
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity 
with generally accepted accounting principles of the 
United States requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the finan-
cial statements and accompanying notes. Changes in cir-
cumstances could cause actual results to differ materially 
from those estimates.

Reclassifications
Certain 2006 and 2007 amounts have been reclassified 
from the prior year financial statements to conform to the 
2008 presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on 
total assets, total liabilities, total shareholders’ equity, net 
cash flow or net earnings as previously reported.

Investments
All fixed maturity securities are considered “available for 
sale” and reported at fair value with unrealized gains or losses 
reported after-tax as a separate component of shareholders’ 
equity. Fair values of investments are based on prices quoted 
in the most active market for each security. If quoted prices 
are not available, fair value is estimated based on the fair 
value of comparable securities, discounted cash flow models 
or similar methods. Premium and discounts on mortgage-
backed securities (“MBS”), collateralized mortgage obliga-
tions (“CMO”), collateralized loan obligations (“CLO”) and 
asset-backed securities (“ABS”) are treated as a yield adjust-
ment over the estimated life of the securities, adjusted for 
anticipated prepayments, using the interest method. 
Prepayment assumptions are based on data from widely 
accepted third-party data sources or internal estimates. The 
amortized cost and effective yield of the security are reviewed 
periodically and adjusted to reflect actual prepayments and 
changes in expectations. For high credit quality MBS and 

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2008
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ABS (those rated AA or above at the time of purchase), the 
adjustments to amortized cost are recorded as a charge or 
credit to net investment income in accordance with the 
retrospective method. For MBS and ABS rated below AA, 
the yield is adjusted prospectively for any changes in esti-
mated cash flows.

Gains or losses on securities are determined on the specific 
identification basis. When a decline in the value of a specific 
investment is considered to be other-than-temporary 
(“OTTI”), a provision for impairment is charged to earnings 
and the cost basis of that investment is reduced.

Securities having a market value of approximately $43.2 million 
at December 31, 2008 were on deposit as required by regu-
latory authorities.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Investments having original maturities of three months or 
less when purchased are considered to be cash equivalents 
for purposes of the financial statements.

Reinsurance
Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries cede reinsurance to other 
companies. To the extent that any reinsuring companies are 
unable to meet obligations under agreements covering rein-
surance ceded, Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries would 
remain liable. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are esti-
mated in a manner consistent with the claim liability associ-
ated with the reinsured policies. Infinity’s insurance 
subsidiaries report as assets (a) the estimated reinsurance 
recoverable on unpaid losses, including an estimate for 
losses incurred but not reported, and (b) amounts paid 
to reinsurers applicable to the unexpired terms of policies-
in-force. Infinity’s insurance subsidiaries also assume 
reinsurance, primarily from AFG subsidiaries. Income on 
reinsurance assumed is recognized based on reports 
received from ceding companies.

Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs (“DPAC”)
Policy acquisition costs (principally commissions, premium 
taxes and other marketing and underwriting expenses) 
related to the production of premium writings are deferred 
and charged against income ratably over the terms of the 
related policies. The method followed in computing DPAC 
limits the amount of such costs to their estimated realizable 
value without any consideration for anticipated investment 
income. Each quarter, the Company evaluates the recover-
ability of these costs. The DPAC amortization expense rec-
ognized in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings during 
2008, 2007 and 2006 was $75.8 million, $76.8 million and 
$70.4 million, respectively.

Goodwill
In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standard (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible 
Assets,” Infinity performs impairment test procedures for 
goodwill on an annual basis. These procedures require 
Infinity to calculate the fair value of goodwill, compare the 
result to its carrying value and record the amount of any 
shortfall as an impairment charge. Infinity performed this 
test as of September 30, 2008, using a variety of methods, 
including estimates of future discounted cash flows and 
comparisons of the market value of Infinity to its major com-
petitors as well as the overall market. The September 30, 
2008, test results indicated that there was no impairment 
charge required at that date. In addition, there was no indi-
cation of impairment at December 31, 2008.

Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses (“LAE”)
The net liabilities stated for unpaid claims and for expenses of 
investigation and adjustment of unpaid claims are based upon 
(a) the accumulation of case estimates for losses reported 
prior to the close of the accounting period on direct business 
written; (b) estimates received from ceding reinsurers and 
insurance pools and associations; (c) estimates of unreported 
losses based on past experience; (d) estimates based on 
experience of expenses for investigating and adjusting claims 
and (e) the current state of the law and coverage litigation. 
These liabilities are subject to the impact of changes in claim 
amounts and frequency and other factors. Unpaid losses 
and LAE have not been reduced for reinsurance recover-
ables. Changes in estimates of the liabilities for losses and 
LAE are reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings 
in the period in which determined. In spite of the variability 
inherent in such estimates, management believes that the 
liabilities for unpaid losses and LAE are adequate.

Premium and Receivables
Insurance premium written are earned over the terms of the 
policies on a pro rata basis. Unearned premium represent 
that portion of premium written which is applicable to the 
unexpired terms of policies-in-force. On reinsurance assumed 
from other insurance companies or written through various 
underwriting organizations, unearned premium are based 
on reports received from such companies and organizations. 
Infinity provides insurance and related services to individuals 
and small commercial accounts throughout the United States 
and offers a variety of payment plans. Infinity establishes an 
allowance for doubtful accounts based on the relationship, on 
a policy basis, between receivables and unearned premium, 
or an aging analysis of past due balances. Premium due 
from insureds is charged off if not collected within 90 days 
of the policies’ expiration or cancellation dates. However, 
even after premium is charged off, attempts to collect the 
premium continue.

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2008
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Income Taxes
Infinity files a consolidated federal income tax return, which 
includes all 80% and greater owned U.S. subsidiaries. 
Infinity and its 80% and greater owned subsidiaries are par-
ties to a tax allocation agreement which designates how tax 
payments are shared by members of the tax group. In gen-
eral, each subsidiary agrees to pay Infinity taxes computed 
on a separate company taxable income basis. Infinity agrees 
to pay each subsidiary for the tax benefit, if any, of net losses 
used by other members of the consolidated group.

Deferred income taxes are calculated using the “asset and 
liability method.” Under this method, deferred income tax 
assets and liabilities are determined based on differences 
between financial reporting and tax basis and are measured 
using enacted tax rates. Deferred tax assets are recognized 
if it is more likely than not that a benefit will be realized. 
Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are aggregated 
on the balance sheet.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment balances are reported at cost less 
accumulated depreciation. Property and equipment, which 
consists of land, building in process, leasehold improve-
ments, computer equipment and furniture and fixtures, was 
$33.3 million at December 31, 2008, net of accumulated 
depreciation of $50.0 million. Depreciation is computed over 
the estimated useful lives of the assets using the straight-line 
method. Property and equipment is included in the line item 
other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and the 
related expenses are allocated to one or more of the follow-
ing line items on the Consolidate Statement of Earnings 
depending on the asset: losses and LAE, commission and 
other underwriting expenses, corporate general and admin-
istrative expense or other expenses.

Benefit Plans

Infinity provides retirement benefits to qualified employees 
and health care and life insurance benefits to eligible retir-
ees. Infinity also provides post-employment benefits to for-
mer or inactive employees (primarily those on disability) who 
were not deemed retired under other company plans. The 
projected future cost of providing these benefits is expensed 
over the period the employees earn such benefits.

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards 
Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Statement No. 158, “Employers’ 
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other 
Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB Statements 
No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R)” (“SFAS 158”). SFAS 158 
requires plan sponsors of defined pension and other post-
retirement benefit plans (collectively, “postretirement benefit 
plans”) to recognize the funded status of their postretirement 

benefit plans in the statements of financial position, measure 
the fair value of plan assets and benefit obligations as of the 
date of the fiscal year-end statement of financial position, 
and provide additional disclosures. On December 31, 2006, 
Infinity adopted the recognition and disclosure provisions of 
SFAS 158. The effect of adopting SFAS 158 on Infinity’s 
financial condition at December 31, 2006 has been included 
in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. As 
required by SFAS 158, Infinity changed the measurement 
date for its postretirement benefit plan from September 30 
to December 31 for its 2008 financial statements and 
recorded an adjustment to retained earnings of approxi-
mately $50,000, pre-tax.

Share-Based Compensation
Effective January 1, 2006, Infinity adopted Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), 
“Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123(R)”). SFAS 123(R) 
requires measurement and recognition of compensation 
expense for all share-based payment awards made to 
employees and directors including employee stock options, 
employee stock purchases related to the Employee Stock 
Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) and shares issued as part of the 
Performance Share Plan based on estimated fair values. 
Under Infinity’s Stock Option Plan, options may be granted 
to officers, directors and key employees at exercise prices 
equal to the fair value of the shares at the dates of grant. 
During 2008, 2007 and 2006, approximately $1.7 million, 
$1.7 million and $1.1 million, respectively, of compensation 
expense was recognized in the Consolidated Statement of 
Earnings for all share-based compensation plans. See Note 6 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements for more informa-
tion on share-based compensation.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards
Effective January 1, 2008, Infinity adopted SFAS No. 157, 
“Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS 157”), which defines fair 
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and 
expands disclosures about the information used to measure 
fair value. SFAS 157 applies whenever other accounting 
pronouncements require, or permit, assets or liabilities to be 
measured at fair value; it does not require any new fair value 
measurements. The adoption of SFAS 157 did not have a 
material impact on the results of operations or financial posi-
tion of the Company. (See Note 2—Investments of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements.)

In October 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 157-3, 
“Determining the Fair Value of a Financial Asset When the 
Market for That Asset Is Not Active” (“FSP 157-3”). FSP 
157-3 clarifies the application of SFAS 157 in a market that 
is not active and provides an example to illustrate key con-
siderations in determining the fair value of a financial asset 
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when the market for that financial asset is not active. FSP 
157-3 is effective upon issuance, including prior periods for 
which financial statements have not been issued. Revisions 
resulting from a change in the valuation technique or its 
application should be accounted for as a change in account-
ing estimate following the guidance in FASB Statement 
No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections” 
(“SFAS 154”). The disclosure provisions of SFAS 154 for a 
change in accounting estimate are not required for revisions 
resulting from a change in valuation technique or its applica-
tion. The adoption of FSP 157-3 did not have a material 
impact on the results of operations or financial position of 
the Company.

Effective January 1, 2008, Infinity adopted SFAS No. 159, 
“The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities—including an amendment of FASB Statement 
No. 115” (“SFAS 159”) which permits entities to voluntarily 
choose to measure many financial instruments at fair value. 
The election is made on an instrument-by-instrument basis 
and is irrevocable. The statement specifies that, if the fair 
value is elected, entities must report unrealized gains and 

losses in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. Infinity 
has not elected the fair value option for any of its financial 
assets or liabilities.

Note 2 Investments
All fixed maturity and equity securities are considered 
“available-for-sale” and reported at fair value with unrealized 
gains or losses reported after-tax in other comprehensive 
income. Fair values of instruments are based on (i) quoted 
prices in active markets for identical assets (Level 1), 
(ii) quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, 
quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets 
that are not active and model-derived valuations in which all 
significant inputs are observable in active markets (Level 2) 
or (iii) valuations derived from valuation techniques in which 
one or more significant inputs are unobservable in the mar-
ketplace (Level 3).

The following table presents for each of the fair value hier-
archy levels the Company’s assets and liabilities that are 
measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 
2008 (in thousands):

Level 1 securities are U.S. Treasury securities and an 
exchange-traded fund that makes up Infinity’s equity port-
folio. Level 2 securities are comprised of securities whose 
fair value was determined using observable market inputs. 
Level 3 securities are comprised of (i) securities for which 
there is no active or inactive market for similar instruments, 
(ii) securities whose fair value is determined based on unob-
servable inputs and (iii) securities, other than securities 
backed by the U.S. Government, that are not rated by a 
Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organization.

The Company’s procedures for validating market prices 
obtained from third parties include, but are not limited to, 
periodic review of model pricing methodologies and periodic 
testing of sales activity to determine if there are any signifi-
cant differences between the market price used to value 
the security as of the balance sheet date and the sales price 
of the security for sales that occurred around the balance 
sheet date.

The following table presents the changes in the Level 3 fair 
value category for the twelve months ended December 31, 
2008 (in thousands):

Available-for-Sale Securities

Balance at beginning of period $�31,162
Total losses (realized or unrealized)
 � Included in net earnings (3,314)
 � Included in other comprehensive income (159)
Purchases, sales, issuances and settlements 20,529
Transfer in to Level 3 15,978
Transfers out of Level 3 (18,640)

Balance at December 31, 2008 $�45,556

The gains or losses included in net earnings are included in 
the line item realized gains (losses) on investments on the 
Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

Of the $45.6 million fair value of securities in Level 3, which 
consists of 31 securities, 27 are priced based on non-binding 
broker quotes or prices from various outside sources. When 
there are multiple prices obtained for the same security, the 
lowest price is used as the basis for the fair value presented 
in the financial statements. The remaining four securities are  

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

Description

Quoted Prices in Active 
Markets for Identical Assets 

(Level 1)

Significant Other 
Observable Inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant 
Unobservable Inputs 

(Level 3) Total

Available-for-sale securities $199,419 $818,419 $45,556 $1,063,394
% of total 18.8% 76.9% 4.3% 100.0%
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manually calculated based on expected principal repay-
ments from Bloomberg, the zero spot Treasury curve at 
December 31, 2008 and the average spreads to Treasury 
for the rating of the security being priced. For one security, 
which is no longer rated, the assumed rating for valuation 
purposes was ‘C’.

Fixed maturities and equity securities consisted of the 
following (in thousands):

Twelve months ended December 31, 2008

Amortized 
Cost or 

Cost Fair Value

Gross Unrealized

Gain Loss

Fixed maturities:
 � U.S. government  

  and agencies $� 192,240 $� 203,124 $�10,884 $� —
 � State and  

  municipal 217,951 220,598 4,344 (1,696)
 � MBS, CMO, ABS  

 � and CLO 352,444 350,618 6,554 (8,380)
 � Public utilities 8,035 8,082 73 (27)
 � All other  

  �corporates 253,451 249,816 3,145 (6,780)

  �  Total fixed  
 � maturities $�1,024,121 $�1,032,237 $�25,000 $�(16,883)

Equity securities 31,157 31,157 — —

    �    Total $�1,055,278 $�1,063,394 $�25,000 $�(16,883)

Twelve months ended December 31, 2007

Amortized 
Cost or 

Cost Fair Value

Gross Unrealized

Gain Loss

Fixed maturities:
 � U.S. government  

  and agencies $� 126,079 $� 129,051 $� 2,978 $� (6)
 � State and  

  municipal 307,686 312,543 5,224 (367)
 � MBS, CMO, ABS  

 � and CLO 449,884 451,678 5,101 (3,307)
 � Public utilities 9,256 9,597 348 (7)
 � All other  

  �corporates 322,466 323,935 4,624 (3,155)

  �  Total fixed  
 � maturities $�1,215,371 $�1,226,804 $�18,276 $�(6,843)

Equity securities 49,056 49,677 621 —

    �    Total $�1,264,427 $�1,276,481 $�18,897 $�(6,843)

The changes in unrealized gains or losses on marketable securities, which is included in the Consolidated Statements of Changes 
in Shareholders’ Equity, for the twelve months ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 is detailed below (in thousands):

Pre-tax   

Fixed Maturities Equity Securities Tax Effects Net

Year ended December 31, 2008
Unrealized holding gains (losses) on securities arising during the period $�(36,104) $�(19,210) $� 19,360 $�(35,954)
Realized (gains) losses included in net earnings 32,788 18,590 (17,982) 33,396

Change in unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities, net $� (3,316) $� (621) $� 1,378 $� (2,558)

Year ended December 31, 2007
Unrealized holding gains (losses) on securities arising during the period $� 12,909 $� 1,444 $� (5,024) $� 9,329
Realized (gains) losses included in net earnings 6,360 (3,273) (1,080) 2,007

Change in unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities, net $� 19,269 $� (1,829) $� (6,104) $� 11,336

Year ended December 31, 2006
Unrealized holding gains (losses) on securities arising during the period $� (4,441) $� 6,624 $� (762) $� 1,421
Realized (gains) losses included in net earnings 1,539 (3,501) 688 (1,274)

Change in unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities, net $� (2,902) $� 3,123 $� (74) $� 147
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Infinity has recorded cumulative, pre-tax, other-than-temporary 
impairment charges on securities as follows (in thousands):

Twelve months ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Beginning balance $� 4,557 $�8,607 $�9,204
Impairments recorded:
 � Fixed maturities 43,229 4,028 1,445
 � Equity securities 18,590 — 5,032
Sales, maturities and paydowns (9,193) (8,078) (7,074)

Ending balance $�57,182 $�4,557 $�8,607

Gross gains and losses on investment transactions included 
in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Cash Flows 
consisted of the following (in thousands):

Twelve months ended December 31,

Fixed maturities 2008 2007 2006

Gross gains $�16,277 $�5,597 $�1,029
Gross losses (5,837) (7,929) (1,123)

Net realized gains (losses) on sales of  
 � fixed maturities 10,441 (2,332) (94)
Current year impairments (43,229) (4,028) (1,445)

Realized gains (losses) included in  
 � net earnings $�(32,788) $�(6,360) $�(1,539)

Twelve months ended December 31,

Equity securities 2008 2007 2006

Gross gains $� — $�4,349 $�8,823
Gross losses — (1,076) (290)

Net realized gains (losses) on sales of  
 � fixed maturities — 3,273 8,533
Current year impairments (18,590) — (5,032)

Realized gains (losses) included in  
 � net earnings $�(18,590) $�3,273 $�3,501

The following chart summarizes Infinity’s security positions 
with unrealized losses, which were less than twelve months 
old and greater than twelve months old, as of December 31, 
2008 (dollars in thousands):

Less than twelve months

Number of 
Securities

Amortized 
Cost

Fair 
Value

Unrealized 
Loss

Fixed maturities 158 $�276,970 $�260,092 $�(16,877)
Equity securities — — — —

Total 158 $�276,970 $�260,092 $�(16,877)

Greater than twelve months

Number of 
Securities

Amortized 
Cost

Fair 
Value

Unrealized 
Loss

Fixed maturities 2 $� 704 $� 698 $� (6)
Equity securities — — — —

Total 2 $� 704 $� 698 $� (6)

The following chart summarizes Infinity’s security positions 
with unrealized losses, which were less than twelve months 
old and greater than twelve months old, as of December 31, 
2007 (dollars in thousands):

Less than twelve months

Number of 
Securities

Amortized 
Cost

Fair 
Value

Unrealized 
Loss

Fixed maturities 79 $� 75,373 $� 72,214 $�(3,159)
Equity securities — — — — 

Total 79 $� 75,373 $� 72,214 $�(3,159)

 Greater than twelve months

Number of 
Securities

Amortized 
Cost

Fair 
Value

Unrealized 
Loss

Fixed maturities 101 $�315,075 $�311,391 $�(3,684)
Equity securities — — — —

Total 101 $�315,075 $�311,391 $�(3,684)

December 31, 
2008

December 31, 
2007

Number of positions held  
  with unrealized:
 � Gains 224 311
 � Losses 160 180
Number of positions held that  
  individually exceed unrealized:
 � Gains of $500,000 9 7
 � Losses of $500,000 5 1
Percentage of positions held  
 � with unrealized:
 � Gains that were investment grade 96% 86%
 � Losses that were investment grade 81% 66%
Percentage of fair value held  
 � with unrealized:
 � Gains that were investment grade 100% 97%
 � Losses that were investment grade 94% 90%

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries
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The following table sets forth the amount of unrealized loss by age and severity at December 31, 2008 (in thousands):

Age of unrealized loss:
Fair Value of Securities 
with Unrealized Losses

Total Gross 
Unrealized Losses

Less than 
5%* 5% to 10%*

Greater than 
10%*

Less than or equal to:
 � Three months $� 31,691 $� (1,852) $� (386) $� (637) $� (829)
 � Six months 104,421 (5,131) (1,204) (1,845) (2,082)
 � Nine months 64,663 (5,150) (774) (1,046) (3,329)
 � Twelve months 59,318 (4,744) (501) (3,390) (853)
Greater than twelve months 698 (6) (6) — —

Total $�260,791 $�(16,883) $�(2,872) $�(6,918) $�(7,093)

*As compared to amortized cost.

Infinity has both the ability and intent to hold those securities 
with unrealized losses for a period of time sufficient to allow 
for any anticipated recovery in fair value.

The determination of whether unrealized losses are “other-
than-temporary” requires judgment based on subjective as 
well as objective factors. Factors considered and resources 
used by management include:

 � the length of time the security’s market value has been 
below its cost;

 � the extent to which fair value is less than cost basis;

 � the ability and intent to hold the investment for a period 
of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in 
fair value;

 � whether the unrealized loss is credit-driven or a result of 
changes in market interest rates;

 � historical operating, balance sheet and cash flow data 
contained in issuer SEC filings;

 � issuer news releases;

 � near-term prospects for improvement in the issuer and/or 
its industry;

 � industry research and communications with industry spe-
cialists; and

 � third-party research and credit rating reports.

Management regularly evaluates for potential impairment 
each security position that has any of the following: a fair 
value of less than 95% of its book value, an unrealized loss 
that equals or exceeds $100,000 or one or more impairment 
charges recorded in the past. In addition, management 
reviews positions held related to an issuer of a previously 
impaired security.

Net Investment Income
The following table shows investment income earned and 
investment expenses incurred by Infinity (in thousands):

Twelve months ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Investment income:
 � Interest income on fixed maturities,  

 � cash and cash equivalents $�58,909 $�68,359 $�69,383
 � Dividends on equity securities 871 1,190 1,518

  �  Gross investment income $�59,780 $�69,549 $�70,901
Investment expenses (1,830) (2,162) (2,488)

Net investment income $�57,950 $�67,387 $�68,413

Note 3 Long-Term Debt
In February 2004, Infinity issued $200 million principal of 
senior notes due February 2014 (“Senior Notes”). The notes 
bear interest at a fixed 5.5% coupon rate which is payable 
semi-annually. The proceeds of the Senior Notes were used 
to retire a $200 million amortizing term loan. Infinity capital-
ized $2.1 million of debt issuance costs which are being 
amortized over the term of the Senior Notes.

Interest paid by Infinity on long-term debt was $11.0 million 
for each of the twelve months ended December 31, 2008, 
2007 and 2006, respectively.

Infinity’s three-year revolving $50 million credit facility 
expired on August 31, 2008 and was renewed for an addi-
tional three-year term expiring on August 31, 2011 on sub-
stantially similar terms. As of December 31, 2008, Infinity 
was in compliance with all covenants under the agreement. 
Under this agreement, there were no borrowings outstanding 
at December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007.
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Note 4 Income Taxes
Taxes paid by Infinity in the years 2008, 2007 and 2006 
were $22.7 million, $39.7 million and $48.8 million, respec-
tively. The following is a reconciliation of income taxes at the 
statutory rate of 35.0% and income taxes as shown in the 
Consolidated Statement of Earnings (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Earnings before income taxes $�54,075 $�108,703 $�131,420
Income taxes at statutory rate 18,926 38,046 45,997
Effect of:
 � Dividends-received deduction (181) (225) (300)
 � Tax-exempt interest (2,810) (2,586) (2,047)
 � Adjustment to valuation  

 � allowance 18,430 1,622 (128)
 � Other 453 (98) 616

Provision for income taxes as  
 � shown on the Consolidated 

Statements of Earnings $�34,818 $� 36,759 $� 44,138

GAAP effective tax rate 64.4% 33.8% 33.6%

The total income tax provision (benefit) consists of (in 
thousands):

2008 2007 2006

Current $�27,085 $�33,207 $�44,258
Deferred 7,733 3,552 (120)

 � Provision for income taxes $�34,818 $�36,759 $�44,138

The Infinity consolidated tax group generated capital losses 
in 2003 and in 2007. Approximately $22 million of capital 
losses generated in the first short-period of 2003 expired 
unused in 2007. Approximately $23.0 million of capital losses 
generated in the second short-period of 2003 expired unused 
in 2008. The tax benefit of the capital loss carryforwards at 
December 31, 2008 is (in thousands):

Expiring Amount

Capital loss carryforward 2012 $3,118

As of December 31, 2008, deferred taxes relating to the 
capital loss carryforwards and the OTTI reserve have been 
fully offset by a valuation allowance. Therefore, in the future, 
the tax benefit from the utilization of any of these capital loss 
carryforwards or any change in the OTTI reserve will be 
reflected in current tax expense and will impact the effective 
tax rate calculation for that period.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities reflect temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities recognized for financial purposes and the amounts 
recognized for tax purposes. The significant components of  

deferred tax assets and liabilities included in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets were as follows (in thousands):

Twelve months ended 
December 31,

2008 2007

Deferred tax assets:
 � Discount on loss reserves $� 11,022 $�12,954
 � Unearned premium reserve 26,534 28,659
 � Net capital loss carryforward 3,118 11,294
 � Investment securities—basis differences OTTI 20,013 1,595
 � Investment securities—unrealized losses — —
 � Investment securities—basis differences ordinary — 215
 � Bad debts 4,078 5,407
 � Accrued bonuses 572 3,588
 � Other 7,585 8,387

  �  Subtotal $� 72,922 $�72,099
 � Valuation allowance for capital loss carryforward (3,118) —
 � Valuation allowance for OTTI (20,013) (1,595)
 � Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets (302) (11,294)

$� 49,489 $�59,210
Deferred tax liabilities:
 � Deferred policy acquisition costs $�(24,535) $�(26,521)
 � Investment securities—unrealized gains (2,841) (4,219)
 � Other (796) (713)

  �  Subtotal $�(28,172) $�(31,453)

 � Net deferred tax assets $� 21,317 $�27,757

The gross deferred tax asset has been reduced by a valuation 
allowance based on an analysis of the likelihood of realization 
of the net capital loss carryforward and the portion of the 
basis difference on securities relating to the OTTI reserve. 
Factors considered in assessing the need for a valuation 
allowance for ordinary or capital loss items include: (i) the 
likelihood of generating larger amounts of taxable income in 
the future to allow for the utilization of deductible temporary 
differences, (ii) sufficient operating income in prior years 
against which operating loss carrybacks could be utilized 
and (iii) opportunities to generate taxable income from sales 
of appreciated assets to allow for the utilization of net capital 
loss carryovers. The likelihood of realizing deferred tax assets 
is reviewed periodically; any adjustment required to the 
valuation allowance is made in the period in which the 
developments on which they are based become known.

Infinity adopted the provisions of FIN 48 effective January 1, 
2007. As of the date of adoption, Infinity did not have any 
gross unrecognized tax benefits that would exceed a mate-
riality threshold and therefore, there was no reduction to 
Retained Earnings in Infinity’s Consolidated Balance Sheets 
at January 1, 2007. During 2007, there were no material 
changes that resulted in the gross unrecognized tax benefit 
exceeding the materiality threshold as of December 31, 
2007. During 2008, there were no material changes that  
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resulted in the gross unrecognized tax benefit exceeding the 
materiality threshold as of December 31, 2008.

In June 2008, the Internal Revenue Service began an exam-
ination of the 2005 tax year. In August 2008, the examination 
was expanded to include the 2006 tax year. In December 
2008, the examination was completed with one issue identi-
fied, which relates to whether corporate litigation losses are 
deductible for tax purposes when reserved versus paid. The 
Company filed a protest regarding this issue with the Internal 
Revenue Service and expects to resolve the issue in appeals 
during 2009. Regardless of the outcome of this appeal, the 
impact to Infinity’s financial position will be immaterial.

Since no notice was received from the IRS regarding the 
2004 tax year, the statute of limitations for that year has 
expired. No notice has been received for the 2007 tax year.

Note 5 Computations of Earnings per Share
The following table illustrates Infinity’s computations of basic 
and diluted earnings per common share (in thousands, 
except per share figures):

Twelve months ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Net earnings $�19,257 $�71,944 $�87,282
Basic average shares outstanding 15,452 18,390 20,303
Basic earnings per share $� 1.25 $� 3.91 $� 4.30
Basic average shares outstanding 15,452 18,390 20,303
Restricted stock not vested 72 30 6
Dilutive effect of assumed option exercises 155 185 166

Average diluted shares outstanding 15,680 18,605 20,475

Diluted earnings per share $� 1.23 $� 3.87 $� 4.26

Note 6 Share-Based Compensation
Restricted Stock Plan
Infinity’s Amended Restricted Stock Plan was established in 
2002 and amended on July 31, 2007. There are 500,000 
shares of Infinity common stock reserved for issuance under 
the Amended Restricted Stock Plan, of which 206,609 
shares have been issued as of December 31, 2008. The fair 
value of shares issued under Infinity’s Restricted Stock Plan 
is expensed over the vesting periods of the awards based on 
the market value of Infinity’s stock on the date of grant.

The following table sets forth the restricted stock activity for 
the year ended December 31, 2008:

Restricted Stock
Number 

of Shares 
Weighted-average Grant 

Date Fair Value

Non-vested as of January 1, 2008 72,234 $44.04
Granted — —
Vested — —
Forfeited — —

Non-vested as of December 31, 2008 72,234 $44.04

On July 31, 2007, Infinity’s Compensation Committee (the 
“Committee”) approved the grant of 72,234 shares of 
restricted stock to certain officers under the Company’s 
Amended 2002 Restricted Stock Plan. These shares of 
restricted stock will vest in full on July 31, 2011. During the 
vesting period, the shares of restricted stock will not have 
voting rights and will accrue dividends, which will not be 
paid until the shares have vested. The restricted shares are 
treated as issued and outstanding for calculation of diluted 
earnings per share only. Until fully vested, the shares will not 
be considered issued and outstanding for purposes of the 
basic earnings per share calculation.

During 2008, $0.8 million of expense was recorded in the 
Consolidated Statements of Earnings related to the grant of 
restricted stock. During 2007, $0.3 million of expense was 
recorded related to the grant of restricted stock. No expense 
was recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings 
during 2006. As of December 31, 2008, there was 
$2.1 million of compensation expense related to non-vested 
restricted stock not yet recognized in the consolidated finan-
cial statements, which is expected to be recognized over a 
weighted-average period of 1.3 years.

Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Ownership Plan
In May 2005, Infinity’s shareholders approved the Non-
Employee Directors’ Stock Ownership Plan (“Directors’ 
Plan”). The purposes of the Directors’ Plan is to include 
Infinity common stock as part of the compensation provided 
to its non-employee directors and to provide for stock owner-
ship requirements for Infinity’s non-employee directors. 
There are 200,000 shares of Infinity common stock reserved 
for issuance under the Directors’ Plan, of which 20,047 
shares have been issued as of December 31, 2008. Under 
the terms of the Directors’ Plan, shares are granted on or 
about June 1 of each year and are restricted from sale or 
transfer by any recipient for six months from the date of 
grant. In June of 2008, 2007 and 2006, 7,494, 5,658 and 
2,990 shares of Infinity common stock, valued pursuant to 
the plan at $300,000, $300,000 and $125,000, respec-
tively, were issued to Infinity’s non-employee directors.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Infinity established the Employee Stock Purchase Plan 
(“ESPP”) in 2004. Under this plan, all eligible full-time 
employees may purchase shares of Infinity common stock 
at a 15% discount to the current market price. Employees 
may allocate up to 25% of their base salary with a maximum 
annual participation amount of $25,000. If a participant sells 
any shares purchased under the plan within one year, that 
employee is precluded from participating in the plan for one 
year from the date of sale. The source of shares issued to 
participants is treasury shares and/or authorized but previously 
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unissued shares. The maximum number of shares which 
may be issued under the ESPP may not exceed 1,000,000, 
of which 32,056 have been issued as of December 31, 
2008. Infinity’s ESPP is qualified under Section 423 of the 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The 15% 
market discount for shares purchased during 2008, 2007 
and 2006 approximated $42,600, $40,700 and $42,500, 
respectively, and was recognized as compensation expense 
in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings in each period. 
Participants’ shares are treated as issued and outstanding 
for earnings per share calculations.

Performance Share Plan
On May 20, 2008, Infinity’s shareholders approved the 
Performance Share Plan (the “Plan”). The purpose of the 
Plan is to further align the interest of management with 
the long-term shareholders of the Company by including 
performance-based compensation, payable in shares of 
common stock, as a component of an executive’s annual 
compensation. The Plan is administered by the Compensation 
Committee (“Committee”), which is composed solely of 
three outside directors as defined pursuant to Section 
162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 
No member of the Committee, while serving as such, is 
eligible to be granted performance share units. The 
Committee shall (i) establish the performance goals, which 
may include but are not limited to, combined ratio, premium 
growth, growth within certain specific geographic areas and 
earnings per share or return on equity over the course of the 
upcoming three year period (a “Performance Measurement 
Cycle”), (ii) determine the Plan participants, (iii) set the 
performance share units to be awarded to such participants, 
and (iv) set the rate at which performance share units will 
convert to shares of common stock based upon attainment 
of the performance goals. The number of shares of common 
stock that may be issued under the Plan is limited to 
500,000 shares. During 2008, $0.2 million of expense was 
recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings related 
to the Performance Share Plan. No shares have been issued 
under this plan.

Stock Option Plan
Infinity’s Stock Option Plan (the “SOP”) was established with 
2,000,000 shares (subject to anti-dilution provisions) of 
Infinity common stock reserved for issuance under the SOP. 
The Committee administers the plan. Each member of the 
Committee is an “outside director,” as such term is defined 
under Section 162(m) of the Code, as a “Non-Employee 
Director” as defined in Rule 16b-3(b) promulgated under 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Infinity’s Stock Option Plan (“SOP”) was restated on May 20, 
2008 to prohibit any future grant of stock options from the 

plan after May 20, 2008. No options have been granted 
since 2004. Options are generally granted with an exercise 
price equal to the closing price of Infinity’s stock at the date 
of grant and have a 10-year contractual life. Options granted 
to employees generally vest at the rate of 20% per year of 
continuous service commencing one year after grant while 
options issued to non-employee directors are immediately 
exercisable. For options with graded vesting, the fair value 
of the award is recognized on a straight-line method. Certain 
options provide for acceleration of vesting if there is a 
change in control as defined in the SOP. Subject to specific 
limitations contained in the SOP, Infinity’s Board of Directors 
has the ability to amend, suspend or terminate the plan at 
any time without shareholder approval. The SOP will con-
tinue in effect until the expiration of all options granted under 
the plan.

As permitted by SFAS 123(R), Infinity used the modified 
Black-Scholes model to estimate the value of employee stock 
options on the date of grant that used the assumptions noted 
below. Expected volatilities are based on historical volatilities 
of Infinity’s stock. Infinity judgmentally selected the expected 
option life to be 7.5 years which is also the midpoint between 
the last vesting date and the end of the contractual term. 
The risk-free rate for periods within the contractual life of the 
options is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect 
at the time of grant. The dividend yield was based on 
expected dividends at the time of grant.

Payment for shares purchased upon exercise of an option 
must be made in cash. The Committee, however, may permit 
payment by delivery of shares of common stock already 
owned by the optionee having a fair market value equal 
to the cash option price of the shares, by assigning the 
proceeds of a sale or loan with respect to some or all of 
the shares being acquired (subject to applicable law), by 
a combination of the foregoing or by any other method. 
Infinity has a policy of issuing new stock for the exercise of 
stock options.

Persons who receive options incur no federal income tax 
liability at the time of grant. Persons exercising nonqualified 
options recognize taxable income, and Infinity has a tax 
deduction at the time of exercise to the extent of the differ-
ence between market price on the day of exercise and the 
exercise price. Persons exercising incentive stock options do 
not recognize taxable income until they sell the underlying 
common stock. Sales within two years of the date of grant 
or one year of the date of exercise result in taxable income 
to the holder and a deduction for Infinity, both measured by 
the difference between the market price at the time of sale 
and the exercise price. Sales after such period are treated 
as capital transactions to the holder, and Infinity receives no 
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deduction. The foregoing is only a summary of the federal 
income tax rules applicable to options granted under the 
plan and is not intended to be complete. In addition, this 
summary does not discuss the effect of the income or other 
tax laws of any state or foreign country in which a participant 
may reside.

There were no options granted during 2008, 2007 or 2006. 
The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted 
during 2004 and 2003 were estimated using the modified 

Black-Scholes valuation model and the following weighted-
average assumptions:

2004 Grants 2003 Grants

Weighted-average grant date fair value $13.87 $  5.97
Dividend yield 0.7% 1.4%
Expected volatility 33.0% 33.0%
Risk-free interest rate 4.3% 4.0%
Expected life 7.5 years 7.5 years
Weighted-average grant exercise price $33.56 $16.11

Outstanding as of December 31, 2008 128,600 209,960

SFAS 123(R) requires the recognition of stock-based com-
pensation for the number of awards that are ultimately 
expected to vest. As of December 31, 2008, Infinity used 
an estimated forfeiture rate of 0.0%. Estimated forfeitures 
will be reassessed in subsequent periods and may change 
based on new facts and circumstances.

During 2008, 2007 and 2006, $0.4 million, $1.1 million and 
$1.0 million of expense were recorded in the consolidated 
Statements of Earnings related to stock options, respectively. 
The actual tax benefit realized for the tax deductions from 
options exercised of share-based payment arrangements 
totaled $0.1 million, $0.5 million and $0.8 million, respectively, 
for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006.

Cash received from option exercises for the years ended 
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 were $0.5 million, 
$2.1 million and $1.8 million, respectively. The total intrinsic 
value of options exercised during the years ended 
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, was approximately 
$0.4 million, $1.7 million and $2.2 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2008, there was less than $0.1 million 
of stock option compensation expense related to non-vested 
awards not yet recognized in the consolidated financial state-
ments, which is expected to be recognized in January 2009. 
The total fair value of stock options which vested during the 
years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was 
approximately $0.8 million, $1.3 million and $1.0 million, 
respectively.

Note 7 Benefit Plans
Infinity provides retirement benefits for all eligible employees 
by matching contributions made on a discretionary basis to 
participants’ accounts in the Infinity 401(k) Retirement Plan. 
Eligible employees may contribute up to a maximum of the 
lesser of $15,500 per year or 25% of the participant’s salary. 
Participants age 50 or over at the end of the calendar year 
may make an additional elective deferral contribution of up 
to $5,000 for 2008. These additional contributions (com-
monly referred to as catch-up contributions) are not subject 
to the general limits that apply to 401(k) plans. Infinity retains 
the right to make discretionary supplemental contributions 
to the accounts of plan participants which were 2.5% and 
3.0% for 2007 and 2006, respectively. Infinity made no 
supplemental contribution for 2008. The matching percent-
age made by Infinity was 100% of participants’ contributions 
up to a ceiling of 3% with a maximum company match of 
$6,900 for 2008. Beginning January 1, 2009, the matching 
percentage increased to 100% of participants’ contributions 
up to a ceiling of 4% and 50% of the next 2% of contribu-
tions with a maximum match of $12,250. The plan expense 
was $2.5 million, $4.3 million and $5.4 million for the 
twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 
2006, respectively.

Additionally, Infinity’s Supplemental Retirement Plan is a 
nonqualified deferred compensation plan that allows certain 
highly compensated employees to receive the full discretionary 
employer contribution that is precluded by the provisions of 

The following chart describes activity for Infinity’s Stock Option Plan for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2008:

Options
Number 

of Options
Weighted-average 

Exercise Price

Weighted-average 
Remaining Term

(in years)

Aggregate 
Intrinsic Value(a)

(in millions)

Outstanding as of January 1, 2008 358,360 $22.82
Granted — —
Exercised (19,800) 23.01
Forfeited — —

Outstanding as of December 31, 2008 338,560 $22.81 4.51 $8.1

Vested or Expected to Vest as of December 31, 2008 338,560 $22.81 4.51 $8.1
Exercisable as of December 31, 2008 311,660 $21.88 4.46 $7.8

(a) � The intrinsic value for the stock options is calculated based on the difference between the exercise price of the underlying awards and Infinity’s closing 
stock price as of the reporting date.
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the 401(k) Retirement Plan or by law due to limits on com-
pensation. The amounts contributed by Infinity were approx-
imately $74,000 and $88,000 for 2007 and 2006. Infinity 
made no contribution for 2008.

Infinity maintains a nonqualified deferred compensation plan 
for certain highly-compensated employees which permits 
the participants to defer a portion of their salaries and 
bonuses. The deferred amounts accrue interest at Infinity’s 
approximate long-term borrowing rate. The deferred amounts 
are a general obligation liability of Infinity and amounted to 
$5.6 million, $4.9 million and $3.4 million at December 31, 
2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Interest credited by 
Infinity was approximately $370,000, $250,000 and 
$176,000 for these same time periods.

Infinity also provides postretirement medical and life insur-
ance benefits to certain eligible retirees. During 2006, 
Infinity determined that the benefits provided under this plan 
were actuarially equivalent to those benefits provided by the 
Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization 
Act of 2003 (“MMA”). Infinity did not reflect the government 
subsidy provided by the MMA in the calculation of the accu-
mulated postretirement benefit obligation (“APBO”) as of 
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 other than as reflected 
in the insured over 65 rates going forward.

Infinity’s APBO as of December 31, 2006 was reduced by 
approximately $1.0 million, primarily due to Infinity moving 
from a self-insured basis for medical and prescription drugs 
for the over 65 population to a fully insured product effective 
January 1, 2007.

On December 31, 2006, Infinity adopted the recognition and 
disclosure provisions (the first objective) of SFAS 158. SFAS 
158 required Infinity to recognize the funded status (i.e., the 
difference between the fair value of plan assets and the 
accumulated postretirement benefit obligations) of this plan 
in the December 31, 2006 statement of financial position, 
with a corresponding adjustment to accumulated other com-
prehensive income, net of tax. The adjustment to accumu-
lated other comprehensive income at adoption represents 
the net unrecognized actuarial gains and unrecognized prior 
service credits (there were not any unrecognized transition 
obligations remaining from the initial adoption of SFAS 106), 
all of which were previously netted against the plan’s funded 
status in Infinity’s statement of financial position pursuant to 
the provisions of SFAS 116. These amounts will be subse-
quently recognized as net periodic postretirement benefit 
cost pursuant to Infinity’s historical accounting policy for 
amortizing such amounts. Further, actuarial gains and losses 
that arise in subsequent periods and are not recognized as 
net periodic postretirement benefit cost in the same periods 
will be recognized as a component of net periodic pension 

cost on the same basis as the amounts recognized in accu-
mulated other comprehensive income at adoption of 
SFAS 158. In accordance with the second objective of 
SFAS 158, to measure the funded status of a plan as of the 
date of its year-end, Infinity changed the measurement date 
for its postretirement benefit plan from September 30 to 
December 31 for its 2008 financial statements. Infinity has 
elected the “15-month approach” to transition to the 
December 31 measurement date and recorded an adjust-
ment to retained earnings of approximately $50,000, pre-
tax, at the end of 2008.

Included in accumulated other comprehensive income at 
December 31, 2008 are the following amounts that have not 
yet been recognized in net periodic postretirement benefit 
cost: unrecognized prior service credits of $93,478 ($60,761 
net of tax) and unrecognized actuarial gains of $1,000,207 
($650,135 net of tax). The prior service credit and actuarial 
gain included in accumulated other comprehensive income 
expected to be recognized in net periodic postretirement 
benefit income during the fiscal year-ended December 31, 
2009 is $66,676 ($43,339 net of tax) and $83,633 
($54,361 net of tax), respectively.

The unfunded status of the plan of $3,219,430 at December 31, 
2008 is recognized in the accompanying statement of finan-
cial position as other liability. No plan assets are expected 
to be returned to the Company during the fiscal year-ended 
December 31, 2009.

Data related to this plan is shown in the following tables 
(in thousands).

2008 2007 2006

Net benefit obligation at  
 � beginning of year $�3,584 $�3,866 $�4,877
 � Service cost 132 169 180
 � Interest cost 179 195 249
 � Participant contributions 49 50 119
 � Change in measurement  

  date 17 — —
 � Assumption change (36) — —
 � Actuarial (gain) loss (385) (409) (1,155)
 � Gross benefits paid (321) (287) (404)

Net benefit obligation at  
 � end of year $�3,219 $�3,584 $�3,866

2008 2007 2006

Weighted-average  
 � assumptions used to 

determine benefit 
obligations

 � Discount rate 5.54% 5.20% 5.202%
 � Health care cost trend  

 � on covered charges
10.0 

decreasing 
to 5.0% in 

2031

% 8.0 
decreasing 
to 5.0% in 

2011

% 9.0 
decreasing 
to 5.0% in 

2011

%
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The following table discloses the components of net periodic 
postretirement benefit cost (in thousands):

2008 2007 2006

 � Service cost $�132 $�169 $�180
 � Interest cost 179 195 249
 � Amortization of prior service cost (67) (67) (67)
 � Amortization of net cumulative (gain)/loss (32) — 67

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost $�212 $�297 $�429

The following table discloses the effects of a hypothetical 
one-percentage-point increase and the effect of a hypothetical 
one-percentage-point decrease in the assumed healthcare 
trend rate (in thousands):

2008 2007 2006

A one-percentage point hypothetical change  
 � in the assumed healthcare trend rate  

would have the following effect on the 
postretirement benefit obligations:

  �  1% increase $� 258 $� 283 $� 307
  �  1% decrease (230) (251) (279)

A one-percentage point hypothetical change  
 � in the assumed healthcare cost trend  

rate would have the following effect on the 
aggregate of the service and interest cost 
components of net periodic postretirement 
health care benefit costs:

  �  1% increase $� 31 $� 35 $� 44
  �  1% decrease (27) (30) (37)

The following table reconciles the beginning and ending 
balances of the fair value of plan assets for the years ended 
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 (in thousands):

2008 2007 2006

Plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $� — $� — $� —
 � Employer contributions 272 237 285
 � Participant contributions 49 50 119
 � Gross benefits paid (321) (287) (404)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $� — $� — $� —

The following table presents the funded status and the 
amounts recognized in the statement of financial position 
(in thousands):

2008 2007 2006

Funded status:
 � Fair value of plan assets $� — $� — $� —
 � Benefit obligations (3,219) (3,584) (3,866)

Funded status at end of year $�(3,219) $�(3,584) $�(3,866)

Contributions made after the  
 � measurement date — — —
Unrecognized actuarial net (gain) loss — — —
Unrecognized prior service cost — — —

Net amount recognized at end of year $�(3,219) $�(3,584) $�(3,866)

The following table presents the 10-year forecast and best estimate of expected contributions (in thousands):

Expected future benefit payments 2008 2007 2006

 � 2009 $� 241 2008 $� 272 2007 $� 237
 � 2010 257 2009 290 2008 266
 � 2011 276 2010 297 2009 281
 � 2012 274 2011 301 2010 302
 � 2013 279 2012 306 2011 318
 � 2014–2018 1,391 2013–2017 1,564 2012–2016 1,746

Ten-Year Total $�2,718 $�3,030 $�3,150
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Note 8 Restructuring
In October 2006, Infinity announced plans to consolidate 
certain of its customer service, centralized claims and infor-
mation technology back-office operations. The objective of 
the restructuring is to improve service levels and to more 
consistently and cost effectively manage the operations.

Restructuring costs incurred in 2008, 2007 and 2006 are 
as follows (in thousands):

2008 2007 2006 Total

Employee related costs $�331 $� (562) $�4,782 $�4,551

Contract termination costs 389 1,929 — 2,318
Other exit costs 68 326 — 394

Total $�788 $�1,693 $�4,782 $�7,263

Infinity does not expect to incur any additional costs related 
to the restructuring.

Activity related to accrued restructuring charges as of 
December 31, 2008 is as follows (in thousands):

Employee 
Related 

Costs

Contract 
Termination 

Costs

Other 
Exit 

Costs
Total 

Liability

Balance at December 31, 2007 $�1,390 $�1,462 $�— $�2,852
 � Incurred before net  

 � adjustments 318 389 68 775
 � Net adjustments 13 — — 13

  �  Total incurred 331 389 68 788
  Costs paid or settled (1,582) (623) (68) (2,273)

Balance at December 31, 2008 $� 139 $�1,229 $�— $�1,368

Note 9 Accelerated Share Repurchase Program
On September 7, 2007, Infinity repurchased 2,554,932 shares through an accelerated share repurchase (“ASR”). The shares 
were purchased from a dealer at $39.14 per share for an initial total cost of $100 million. The dealer purchased an equivalent 
number of shares from October 8, 2007 through June 16, 2008. Upon completion of the repurchase efforts, Infinity was 
required to pay a price adjustment of $767,957 to the dealer, in either cash or shares of common stock, based on the volume 
weighted average price of Infinity’s common stock during the period of the ASR purchases. Infinity elected to pay this adjustment 
in cash.

Note 10 Quarterly Operating Results (Unaudited)
While insurance premium are recognized on a relatively level basis, claim losses related to adverse weather (snow, hail, hurricanes, 
tornadoes, etc.) may be seasonal. Quarterly results rely heavily on estimates and are not necessarily indicative of results for 
longer periods of time.

The following are quarterly results of consolidated operations of Infinity for the three years ended December 31, 2008 (in 
thousands, except per share amounts):

1st 
Quarter

2nd 
Quarter

3rd 
Quarter

4th 
Quarter Total Year

2008
Revenues $�249,198 $�247,858 $�233,802 $�200,060 $� 930,918
Net earnings 14,001 12,144 4,369 (11,257) 19,257
Earnings per share:
 � Basic $� 0.87 $� 0.75 $� 0.29 $� (0.79) $� 1.25
 � Diluted 0.86 0.74 0.28 (0.79) 1.23

2007
Revenues $�274,875 $�280,385 $�275,874 $�267,092 $�1,098,226
Net earnings 21,758 14,322 17,063 18,801 71,944
Earnings per share:
 � Basic $� 1.11 $� 0.74 $� 0.93 $� 1.16 $� 3.91
 � Diluted 1.10 0.73 0.91 1.14 3.87

2006
Revenues $�251,713 $�254,037 $�252,050 $�263,543 $�1,021,343
Net earnings 29,066 19,981 15,805 22,430 87,282
Earnings per share:
 � Basic $� 1.41 $� 0.97 $� 0.78 $� 1.13 $� 4.30
 � Diluted 1.39 0.96 0.78 1.12 4.26

Realized gains (losses) on securities amounted to:
1st 

Quarter
2nd 

Quarter
3rd 

Quarter
4th 

Quarter Total Year

2008 $� (1,381) $� (1,784) $�(11,623) $�(36,590) $� (51,378)

2007 1,766 (2,997) (1,772) (84) (3,087)
2006 75 (61) (1,781) 3,729 1,962

Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2008



Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation
55

Note 11 Insurance Reserves
Infinity’s insurance reserves consist of business produced 
directly by its wholly-owned insurance subsidiaries, the 
Assumed Agency Business and two other unaffiliated insur-
ance companies.

Incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) reserves for the direct 
and Assumed Agency Business are established for the quar-
ter and year-end based on a quarterly reserve analysis by 
the Company’s actuarial staff. Various standard actuarial 
tests are applied to subsets of the business at a state, prod-
uct and coverage basis. Included in the analyses are the 
following:

 � Paid and incurred extrapolation methods utilizing paid and 
incurred loss development to predict ultimate losses;

 � Paid and incurred frequency and severity methods utiliz-
ing paid and incurred claims count development and paid 
and incurred development to predict ultimate average 
frequency (i.e., claims count per auto insured) or ultimate 
average severity (cost of claim per claim); and

 � Paid and incurred Bornhuetter-Ferguson methods adding 
expected development to actual paid or incurred experi-
ence to project ultimate losses.

For each subset of the business evaluated, each test gener-
ates a point estimate based on development factors applied 
to known paid and incurred claims and claim counts to 
estimate ultimate paid claims and claim counts. Selections 
of factors are based on historical loss development patterns 
with adjustment based on professional actuarial judgment 
where anticipated development patterns vary from those 
seen historically. This estimation of IBNR requires selection 
of hundreds of such factors. A single point estimate for the 
subset being evaluated is then selected from the results of 
various tests, based on a combination of simple averages of 
the point estimates of the various tests and selections based 
on professional actuarial judgment. During recent years, 
paid methods have been less reliable as a result of changes 
in settlement practices, so Infinity has more heavily relied 
on incurred methods.

The following table provides an analysis of changes in the liability for losses and LAE, net of reinsurance (and grossed up), 
over the past three years (in thousands):

2008 2007 2006

Balance at Beginning of Period
 � Unpaid losses on known claims $�225,415 $�231,029 $�262,626
 � IBNR losses 186,402 167,965 181,340
 � LAE 206,592 197,035 181,904

 � Total unpaid losses and LAE 618,409 596,029 625,870
 � Reinsurance recoverables (28,219) (27,579) (15,421)

 � Unpaid losses and LAE, net of reinsurance recoverables 590,190 568,450 610,449

Current Activity
 � Loss and LAE incurred:
  �  Current accident year 677,782 740,769 666,335
  �  Prior accident years (29,372) (13,485) (31,200)

 � Total loss and LAE incurred 648,410 727,284 635,135
 � Loss and LAE payments:
  �  Current accident year (391,935) (430,274) (370,466)
  �  Prior accident years (322,424) (275,270) (306,668)

 � Total loss and LAE payments (714,359) (705,544) (677,134)

Balance at End of Period
 � Unpaid losses and LAE, net of reinsurance recoverables 524,241 590,190 568,450
 � Add back reinsurance recoverables 20,516 28,219 27,579

 � Total unpaid losses and LAE $�544,756 $�618,409 $�596,029

 � Unpaid losses on known claims $�179,530 $�225,415 $�231,029
 � IBNR losses 196,891 186,402 167,965
 � LAE 168,335 206,592 197,035

 � Total unpaid losses and LAE $�544,756 $�618,409 $�596,029



2008 ANNUAL REPORT
56

During calendar year 2008, Infinity experienced $29.4 mil-
lion of favorable reserve development, primarily from LAE 
reserves relating to liability coverages in the California, 
Florida and Pennsylvania nonstandard programs. In addi-
tion, there was favorable development on liability coverages 
of the Assumed Agency Business. During calendar year 
2007, Infinity experienced $13.5 million of favorable reserve 
development, primarily from favorable development on prior 
accident period loss reserves as well as a reduction in LAE 

estimates on bodily injury coverages in both California and 
Florida. During calendar year 2006, Infinity experienced 
$31.2 million of favorable reserve development. This devel-
opment came primarily from a reduction in ultimate esti-
mates for average claim severities from accident years 
2003–2005 in physical damage and bodily injury coverages. 
For those years, estimates for ultimate claim frequencies 
increased slightly.

Assumed Reinsurance
Assumed business consists of two components:

(i)	� The Assumed Agency Business and, to a lesser extent, 
business assumed from other unaffiliated insurance 
companies; and

(ii)	�Business assumed from involuntary pools and 
associations.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2008, 2007 
and 2006, the Company assumed $0.8 million, $3.1 million 
and $11.9 million of written premium, respectively, from GAI 
for the Assumed Agency Business under a reinsurance 
agreement effective January 1, 2003 as explained in more 
detail in Note 1 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
Also, at December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company 
assumed $30.1 million and $49.7 million of total unpaid 
losses and LAE, respectively, from GAI.

Also, for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, the 
Company assumed $(0.4) million of premium from other 
insurance companies as part of fronting arrangements under 
which Infinity utilized these companies’ insurance licenses 
to write business while assuming substantially all of that 
business back from these carriers. At December 31, 2008 
and 2007, the Company assumed $10.4 million and 
$15.3 million of assumed unpaid losses and LAE, respec-
tively, under these fronting arrangements. Beginning 
January 1, 2006, Infinity discontinued its largest fronting 
arrangement on a runoff basis, which was responsible for 
the negative assumed premium in 2006.

Although the business is issued on GAI’s and these other 
unaffiliated companies’ policies, Infinity manages the pric-
ing, marketing, policy issuance, claims adjusting and loss 
reserving for this business.

Note 12 Reinsurance
The following table shows written and earned premium included in income for reinsurance assumed and amounts deducted 
from written and earned premium in connection with reinsurance ceded (in thousands).

Year
Direct Premium 

Written
Reinsurance 

Assumed
Reinsurance 

Ceded
Net Written 

Premium
% of Amount 

Assumed to Net

2008 $� 896,098 $� 801 $� (4,809) $� 892,090 0.1%

2007 1,016,040 3,078 (4,856) 1,014,262 0.3%
2006 982,477 9,932 (10,219) 982,190 1.0%

Year
Direct Premium 

Earned
Reinsurance 

Assumed
Reinsurance 

Ceded
Net Earned 

Premium
% of Amount 

Assumed to Net

2008 $� 926,172 $� 1,539 $� (5,260) $� 922,451 0.2%

2007 1,033,541 5,313 (7,290) 1,031,564 0.5%
2006 923,999 39,635 (14,969) 948,665 4.2%
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For the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, the 
Company assumed $(1.6) million of premium from involuntary 
pools and associations. Assumed premium from involuntary 
pools and associations for 2006 were negative as a result of 
premium returned to the North Carolina reinsurance facility 
based on our current assessment and activity reported by 
the facility. During the twelve months ended December 31, 
2008 and December 31, 2007, Infinity assumed, from invol-
untary pools and associations, premium and unpaid losses 
and LAE of less than $0.1 million each.

Ceded Reinsurance
Infinity uses excess of loss and catastrophe reinsurance to 
mitigate the financial impact of large or catastrophic losses. 
During 2008, the catastrophe reinsurance provides protection 
for losses up to $15 million in excess of $5 million for any 
single event. During 2007 and 2006, the catastrophe rein-
surance provided protection for losses up to $10 million in 
excess of $5 million for any single event. Infinity’s excess of 
loss reinsurance provides reinsurance protection for com-
mercial auto losses up to $700,000 for claims exceeding 
$300,000 per occurrence. Infinity also uses reinsurance to 
mitigate losses on its Classic Collector business.

Since 2005, personal auto losses up to $900,000 for claims 
exceeding $100,000 per occurrence per coverage were 
covered under the personal auto excess of loss reinsurance 
treaty. Infinity discontinued this personal auto excess of loss 
reinsurance as of April 15, 2008 because of the expected 
increase in its cost and the lack of perceived need for the 
coverage in the future. Premium ceded under this reinsur-
ance agreement for the 12 months ended December 31, 
2007 were $1.4 million, or 14.0% of the bodily injury pre-
mium written on higher limit policies. Infinity has averaged 
approximately $2.1 million of losses covered per year under 
this agreement since 2004.

Ceded reinsurance for all programs reduced Infinity’s 
incurred losses and LAE by $0.1 million, $5.9 million and 
$21.4 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 
2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Effective December 1, 2008, Infinity entered into a reinsur-
ance agreement that provides for protection for losses up to 
$15 million in excess of $5 million for any single extra-
contractual loss with a claims occurrence date between 
December 1, 2008 and November 30, 2009. The cost of 
this reinsurance is approximately $1.2 million for twelve 
months of coverage.

Note 13 Statutory Information
Insurance companies are required to file financial statements 
with state insurance regulatory authorities prepared on an 
accounting basis prescribed or permitted by such authorities 
(statutory basis). Net earnings (loss) and policyholders’ 
surplus on a statutory basis were as follows (in thousands):

Net Earnings (Loss) Policyholders’ Surplus

2008 2007 2006 2008 2007

$38,007 $83,875 $92,472 $430,915 $478,890

For the twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2008, 
2007 and 2006, statutory results differed from net earnings 
on a GAAP basis primarily due to the amortization of deferred 
acquisition costs, deferred taxes and holding company 
expenses, including interest.

The decrease in net earnings from 2007 to 2008 is primarily 
due to a $50.7 million increase in realized losses on invest-
ments which resulted from a substantial increase in other-
than-temporary impairments charges recorded during 2008.

The decrease in policyholders’ surplus in 2008 compared 
to 2007 is primarily due to dividend payments of $70.0 million 
and an increase in non-admitted assets of $12.4 million 
offset by statutory net earnings of $38.0 million.
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Note 14 Legal Proceedings
Infinity’s subsidiaries are, from time to time, named as 
defendants in various lawsuits incidental to their insurance 
operations. Legal actions relating to claims made in the 
ordinary course of seeking indemnification for a loss covered 
by the insurance policy are considered by Infinity in estab-
lishing loss and LAE reserves.

Infinity also faces in the ordinary course of business lawsuits 
that seek damages beyond policy limits, commonly known 
as bad faith claims, as well as class action and individual 
lawsuits that involve issues not unlike those facing other 
insurance companies and employers. Infinity continually 
evaluates potential liabilities and reserves for litigation of 
these types using the criteria established by SFAS No. 5, 
“Accounting for Contingencies.” Under this guidance, 
reserves for a loss may only be recorded if the likelihood of 
occurrence is probable and the amount can be reasonably 
estimated. If a loss, while not probable, is judged to be 
reasonably possible, management will disclose, if it can be 
estimated, a possible range of loss or state that an estimate 
cannot be made. Management considers each legal action 
using this guidance and records reserves for losses as war-
ranted by establishing a reserve captured within the 
Company’s balance sheet line-items “Unpaid losses and 
LAE” for bad faith claims and “Accounts payable, accrued 
expenses, and other liabilities” for class action lawsuits. 
Amounts incurred are recorded on the income statement 
within “Losses and LAE” for bad faith claims and “Other 
expenses” for class action lawsuits.

Certain claims and legal actions have been brought against 
Infinity for which no loss has been accrued, and for which 
an estimate of a possible range of loss cannot be made 
under the rules described above. While it is not possible to 
predict the ultimate outcome of these claims or lawsuits, 
management does not believe they are likely to have a mate-
rial effect on Infinity’s financial condition or liquidity. Losses 
incurred as a result of these cases could, however, have a 
material adverse impact on net earnings.

Following is a discussion of the Company’s potentially sig-
nificant pending cases at December 31, 2008:

 � Dave Munn v. Eastwood Insurance Services, et al. 
(Superior Court for the City and County of San Francisco), 
was filed in November 2005. In this action, the plaintiff 
alleges violations of provisions of the California Business 
& Professions Code. The case involves a dispute over the 
legality of broker fees charged by Eastwood Insurance 
Services (“Eastwood”), an independent California broker, 
to consumers who purchased Infinity insurance policies 
through Eastwood. The plaintiff alleges that Eastwood was 
acting as an unlicensed agent of Infinity and, as a conse-
quence, Eastwood should not have charged broker fees. 
Plaintiff seeks from Eastwood restitution of all broker fees 
Eastwood charged on the sale of Infinity’s insurance poli-
cies. Plaintiff had sought injunctive relief from Infinity to 
prohibit Infinity from conducting business with Eastwood 
as a broker. The court issued an order, on plaintiff’s 
motion, dismissing Infinity as a named defendant to the 
suit. Eastwood initiated a cross-claim against Infinity seek-
ing contribution and indemnification of any amounts that 
it was determined to owe plaintiff. Eastwood has dis-
missed, without prejudice to refile, its claims for contribu-
tion and indemnification against Infinity. The Company is 
currently not a party to this lawsuit but anticipates that 
Eastwood will pursue a claim for contribution and indem-
nification against the Company if plaintiff prevails in its 
action against Eastwood. At this time, the Company is 
neither able to determine whether a loss is probable, nor 
can the Company estimate a range of loss.
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 � Eugene Maystruck v. Infinity Insurance Company (Superior 
Court of the State of California, Los Angeles County) is a 
putative class action filed in October 2007. The action 
alleges that Infinity’s Repair Satisfaction Vehicle Program 
(“R.S.V.P.”) violates California Administrative Code Section 
2695.8(e), Insurance Code section 758.5(d), Section 
17200 of the Business and Professions Code, and con-
stitutes a breach of the implied covenant of good faith and 
fair dealing. The putative class action suit seeks compen-
satory damages, attorney fees, injunctive relief, reforma-
tion of the insurance policy and costs and expenses. On 
May 21, 2008, the court granted the Company’s demurrer 
to the plaintiff’s complaint, without leave to amend, 
thereby dismissing all causes of action against the 
Company. On July 9, 2008, the plaintiff filed notice that 
it was appealing dismissal of the case. Infinity rejects the 
allegations made by plaintiff and intends to vigorously 
defend against all claims in this case. At this time, the 
Company is neither able to determine whether a loss is 
probable, nor can the Company estimate a range of loss.

Subsequent to December 31, 2008, the Company became 
aware of a lawsuit against one of its insurance subsidiaries, 
styled Erika Aguila v. Infinity Insurance Company and 
Eastwood Insurance Services, Inc., which was filed on 
February 13, 2009 in the Superior Court of the State of 
California, Los Angeles County. This case is a putative class 
action alleging that this subsidiary unlawfully collected addi-
tional premiums from prospective insureds by threatening to 
impose mandatory arbitration and limits on the recovery of 
punitive and compensatory damages. The action alleges that 
this practice violates Section 17200 of the Business and 
Professions Code and constitutes a breach of contract and a 
breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. 
The putative class action suit seeks compensatory damages, 
punitive damages, attorney fees, costs and expenses of the 
suit from this subsidiary. The suit also seeks an injunction 
against this subsidiary to prohibit it from continuing to charge 
the additional premium and continuing to include this provi-
sion in its insurance policy. Infinity rejects the allegations 
made by plaintiff and intends to vigorously defend against 
all claims in this case. At this time, the Company is neither 
able to determine whether a loss is probable, nor can the 
Company estimate a range of loss.

Note 15 Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments
Minimum rental commitments under noncancelable operating 
leases with an initial or remaining term of more than one year 
as of December 31, 2008 were as follows (in thousands):

Due in Operating Leases

2009 $20,323
2010 17,216
2011 8,871
2012 7,369
2013 6,022
Thereafter 15,516

Total $75,317

As of December 31, 2008, the total minimum rental pay-
ments to be received in the future under noncancelable 
subleases were approximately $8.8 million.

In December 2006, Infinity entered into an eleven-year 
operating lease for a call center facility in Birmingham, 
Alabama. This lease provides Infinity the right and option to 
purchase the property for $16.9 million. This option expires 
on October 1, 2010. During 2007, Infinity made $6.3 million 
of leasehold improvements to this property which are being 
amortized over five years.

Lease expense incurred by the Company during the last 
three years is as follows (in thousands):

Operating Leases Expense

2008 $19,405

2007 19,592
2006 17,492

Contingencies
The Company, based on the application of SFAS No. 5 
“Accounting for Contingencies,” has the following loss con-
tingencies for which it accrues in its financial statements:

 � Other-than-temporary impairments on 
investments Note 2

 � Restructuring Note 8

 � Insurance reserves Note 11

 � Legal proceedings Note 14

 � Allowances for uncollectible accounts Note 16

For each item listed above, please refer to the notes refer-
enced for additional discussion.
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Note 16 Additional Information
Allowances for Uncollectible Accounts
Agents’ balances and premium receivable included in the 
balance sheet are shown net of allowances for uncollectible 
accounts. The provision for such losses is included in com-
missions and other underwriting expenses. A progression of 
the aggregate allowance follows (in thousands):

2008 2007 2006

Beginning balance $� 15,447 $�15,517 $�11,859
Provision for losses 13,626 21,824 20,092
Uncollectible amounts written off (17,421) (21,894) (16,434)

Ending balance $� 11,652 $�15,447 $�15,517

Restrictions on Transfer of Funds and  
Assets of Subsidiaries
Payments of dividends, loans and advances by Infinity’s 
insurance subsidiaries are subject to various state laws, 
federal regulations and debt covenants which limit the 
amount of dividends, loans and advances that can be 
paid. Under applicable restrictions, the maximum amount 
of dividends payable in 2009 from Infinity’s insurance 
subsidiaries without seeking regulatory clearance is approxi-
mately $43 million. Additional amounts of dividends, loans 
and advances require regulatory approval.

Related Party Transactions
In February 2006, three executive officers holding restricted 
shares surrendered a total of 7,637 shares to the Company 
to satisfy their income tax obligation resulting from the vest-
ing of the restricted shares. As a result, the Company 
recorded the surrenders as an acquisition of treasury stock 
at its fair market value of $296,660.
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